

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

Fischler College of Education: Theses and Dissertations

Abraham S. Fischler College of Education

1-1-2018

Teachers' Perceptions of the Use of Graphic Novels to Teach Reluctant Readers

Bret Ginsberg bretginsberg@yahoo.com

This document is a product of extensive research conducted at the Nova Southeastern University Abraham S. Fischler College of Education. For more information on research and degree programs at the NSU Abraham S. Fischler College of Education, please click here.

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse etd



Part of the Education Commons

Share Feedback About This Item

NSUWorks Citation

Bret Ginsberg. 2018. Teachers' Perceptions of the Use of Graphic Novels to Teach Reluctant Readers. Doctoral dissertation. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education. (167) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse_etd/167.

This Dissertation is brought to you by the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Fischler College of Education: Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

Teachers' Perceptions of the Use of Graphic Novels to Teach Reluctant Readers

by Bret Ginsberg

An Applied Dissertation Submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Approval Page

This applied dissertation was submitted by Bret Ginsberg under the direction of the persons listed below. It was submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education at Nova Southeastern University.

David Weintraub, EdD Committee Chair

Katrina Pann, PhD Committee Member

Kimberly Durham, PsyD Interim Dean

Statement of Original Work

I declare the following:

I have read the Code of Student Conduct and Academic Responsibility as described in the *Student Handbook* of Nova Southeastern University. This applied dissertation represents my original work, except where I have acknowledged the ideas, words, or material of other authors.

Where another author's ideas have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's ideas by citing them in the required style.

Where another author's words have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's words by using appropriate quotation devices and citations in the required style.

I have obtained permission from the author or publisher—in accordance with the required guidelines—to include any copyrighted material (e.g., tables, figures, survey instruments, large portions of text) in this applied dissertation manuscript.

Bret Ginsberg	
Name	
July 3, 2018	
Date	

Acknowledgments

Obtaining my doctorate has been a journey for me. When I started, I was a single man and had all the time in the world to work on it. Soon after, I met Nichole, the love of my life. We got married, had a child, and started our little family with her son Jayden. I could not be happier. I lost time to work on my paper and soon realized finishing my doctorate would take longer, but now I was doing it for my family. My wife gave me unconditional support and encouraged me to continue, even when I felt like giving up. This paper is dedicated to my wife, Nichole, and my beautiful children, Harrison and Jayden. I also thank my mother and brother for their support and believing in me.

I want to thank my research site for letting me conduct my study. A very special thanks to all the participants in this study, who took time to offer thoughtful responses.

For my chair, Dr. David Weintraub, you have been a beacon for me. Having you as my chairperson has been the best. You gave me expert advice and encouraged me to get through this, so from the bottom of my heart, thank you! Dr. Katrina Pann, thank you as well for giving your expert advice when it was needed most. Editor Jennifer Ellen Cook, you looked over my paper and made it into what it is. You gave me great advice, and most of all I learned what it takes to make a research paper stand out. You went above and beyond to help me. You gave me hope that this would come to fruition.

Lastly, I would like to dedicate this paper to Les Cooperman, my dear friend, mentor, and colleague, who was very happy to see me pursue this endeavor. He would always ask me if I was close to being finished because he wanted a copy for himself. Unfortunately, Les passed away before I finished my dissertation, but I know he is very proud of me. This one is for you.

Abstract

Teachers' Perceptions of the Use of Graphic Novels to Teach Reluctant Readers. Bret Ginsberg, 2018: Applied Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education. Keywords: graphic novels, reading instruction, middle school students, teacher perceptions, reluctant readers

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the perceptions of teachers in a suburban private school in Florida serving prekindergarten through Grade 8 regarding the use of graphic novels to increase student motivation to read. The problem was teachers were concerned with students' inability to complete the required novels, demonstrate comprehension of deep meaning from the text, read silently, and read outside of school. Teachers raised serious concerns about the reading achievement of middle school students. Teachers also noted a frequent mismatch between the preference of the middle school reader and the instructional opportunities provided. The study was designed to help determine how the inclusion of graphic novels could benefit struggling and reluctant readers. The scope of the qualitative study was to understand the teachers' perceptions of the use of graphic novels in the classroom has become more commonplace, yet they are still viewed as a new tool in schools.

A qualitative case study approach was chosen for this study. The study relied on data collected from 38 teachers who completed open-ended questions on a teacher questionnaire on graphic novels as well as curricula across several subjects.

Themes emerged from the coaxial coding of the data, revealing that teachers may choose to use graphic novels in their classes, but the school curriculum makes no mention of graphic novels. Teachers also noted that reluctant readers may have difficulty with reading or may simply not be interested in the material, which is not chosen by students. Finally, teachers were open to using graphic novels and considered them literature. Suggested best practices included using graphic novels as supplements to texts, to reach visual and reluctant readers, and to teach comprehension and vocabulary and well as subject matter. The teachers were overwhelmingly positive about the use of graphic novels in the classroom.

Table of Contents

	Page
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Statement of the Problem	
Phenomenon of Interest	
Background and Significance	
Deficiencies in the Evidence	
Audience	
Definition of Terms	
Purpose of the Study	8
Chapter 2: Literature Review	9
Theoretical Framework	9
Visual Literacy	10
Building Literacy With Graphic Novels	11
The Definition of a Graphic Novel	13
The Rise of Graphic Novels in the Classroom	
Reading Graphic Novels	
Reading Comprehension and Graphic Novels	
Incorporating Graphic Novels Into the Curriculum	
Building a Graphic Novel Section in a School Library	
Gender and the Graphic Novel	
Opposition to Using Graphic Novels	
Graphic Novel Studies	
Research Questions	31
Chapter 3: Methodology	33
Aim of the Study	
Qualitative Research Approach	
Participants	
Data Collection Tools	
Role of the Researcher	36
Data Analysis	37
Ethical Considerations	38
Trustworthiness	39
Potential Researcher Bias	40
Chapter 4: Results	Δ 1
Sample	
Findings for Research Question 1	
Findings for Research Question 2	
Findings for Research Question 3	
Findings for Research Question 4	
Member Checks	

Chapter 5	: Discussion	55
	verview	
	xpanding on Findings and Linking to Research	
	mitations	
	nplications	
R	ecommendations for Further Research	62
	ummary and Final Conclusion	
Reference	es	64
Appendix		
G	raphic Novels—Teacher Questionnaire	78
Tables		
1	Time Frame and Procedures of the Study	37
2	Content Area of Participating Teachers $(N = 38)$	
3	Summary of Research Questions and Emerging Themes	
Figure		
\sim	raphic Novels Can Interest Reluctant Readers: A Cartoon by Lunarl	baboon20

Chapter 1: Introduction

Statement of the Problem

The problem addressed by this study was the reluctance of many middle school students to read traditional novels presented in classroom curricula. Engaging students' interest in reading is no easy task (Richardson & Miller, 2001). Teachers have expressed concern with students' inability to complete the required novels, demonstrate deep meaning from the text, read silently, and read outside of school (Woodford, 2016). Reading is necessary, and comprehending different types of text is crucial to increase reading comprehension and result in higher achievement (Moss, Lapp, Grant, & Johnson, 2015). Middle school students read texts across varied disciplines and need to understand the importance of having the ability to comprehend these completely different texts (Moss et al., 2015). Teachers have raised serious concerns about the reading achievement of middle school students. Teachers also have noted a frequent mismatch between the preference of the middle school reader and the instructional opportunities provided (Little, McCoach, & Reis, 2014).

Schwertner (2008) noted that he had two types of readers in his class, the motivated reader and the reluctant reader. The motivated readers would read the required texts as well as seek out literature on their own. These readers enjoyed reading for pleasure and sought out independent reading time. The reluctant readers only read the required readings for class and showed a poor attitude towards the reading material. The reluctant readers also would participate minimally in group discussions about the literature.

Phenomenon of Interest

The phenomenon explored in this study was the use of graphic novels in classrooms to help motivate student readers. The use of graphic novels may fill a void for a student who is reluctant to read a book (Schwertner, 2008). Struggling readers reading 1–3 years below grade level (Lettenmaier, 2013) may particularly benefit from reading graphic novels. In one study, Sloboda, Brenna, and Kosowan-Kirk (2014) noticed students who were thought to be reluctant readers were actually struggling readers. Many teachers have seen a decline in recreational reading as well (Heard, 2015), and graphic novels may interest students.

Graphic novels have become popular, fueled by the pop culture landscape, and often are new and innovative works (Rednour, 2017). With graphic novels being so popular, some teachers have chosen to use them in classrooms. The purpose of this study was to gain teachers' viewpoints about using the graphic novel to help students who have no interest in reading a traditional novel. Educators' perspectives on the use of graphic novels in the class are important, as they are course instructors. Instructors may choose the books to be used in class as well as how the material is taught. Determining how instructors feel about graphic novels, particularly with regards to reluctant readers, will add to the knowledge base about utilizing graphic novels in the classroom to increase middle school students' interest in reading.

Finding the right types of material is vital (Danielson, 2016). An educator at the research site added a graphic novel version of *Fahrenheit 451* to accompany the text-only version. The educator stated,

Ever since I introduced the graphic novel, the kids in the class are more eager to

read the book, and I have even noticed that when they annotate the novels, they are finding more to annotate about then when they read the traditional novel. I think the images give them more to go on and they can see things more clearly. (J. McCallister, personal communication, December 17, 2017)

Background and Significance

Many English teachers at the local research site reporting difficulty motivating their students to read traditional novels, defined as a novel with one or fewer pictures per chapter (Jennings, Rule, & Vander Zanden, 2014). One teacher noted having difficulty getting students to read the novels (T. Davies, personal communication, September 15, 2016), whereas other teachers said the students had trouble with reading a classic novel and performed poorly on written essays and short-answer questions. These struggling or reluctant readers were having difficulty with their classwork and said the material was too hard to read and understand. (T. Davies, personal communication, October 1, 2016). Another teacher came to this conclusion on students reading novels:

Kids are overstimulated and do not like the quiet idea of reading, they lack the patience for it. It is not about new literature versus old literature, it is about patience. The act of reading is too slow of an activity for them, and the gratification is not immediate. (M. Alvero, personal communication, October 1, 2016)

When asked about using graphic novels, one teacher responded, "Using graphic novels is something I have thought to use before with my students who are not motivated to read. However, when I mentioned it to my students, the girls in the class were highly against it" (J. McCallister, personal communication, September 15, 2016). Another

teacher told me, "I have tried using graphic novels in my classroom, but the students had a hard time reading it. Perhaps I should have given a lesson on how to read a graphic novel first" (M. Garcia, September 15, 2016). A third English teacher asked about using graphic novels stated,

Students should be able to and be encouraged to read any material they like. The important thing is they are reading, and whether they realize it or not have a better chance at becoming a lifelong reader if they are reading things that encourage them to continue reading. (M. Alvero, personal communication, October 1, 2016)

Teachers at the site have the freedom to add graphic novels to the curriculum if they choose. Gaining teachers' perceptions of graphic novels was useful as some teachers had tried using them and others had not. Research is continual on the topics of what students want to read and whether a teacher can implement other reading materials into the curriculum.

The study took place at a private school in Florida serving prekindergarten through Grade 8. The school population in 2014 (the most recent data available from the National Center for Education Statistics) was 48.3% White, 26.3% Hispanic, 16.9% Asian, 3.4% Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 3.4% mixed race, and 1.7% Black (National Center for Education Statistics, 2014).

My title in the school is administrative associate. I stand in for teachers who are absent from school or have to leave in emergency situations, monitor lunches, supervise student arrival and dismissal, and assist with building-wide discipline issues. Also, I head the middle school math team and direct several clubs. In this role, I have worked with almost every middle school teacher in the school at some point. I had the full backing of

the administrative team to conduct a study at the site.

Many students today are not reading books at home (Stanny, n.d.). The idea of students reading for pleasure seems to have vanished (Ludden, 2014). When the research site has a book fair, many students do not buy books. Instead, they buy items like posters, pens, markers, and rulers. English teachers noted that students do not read or even open their novels.

Reading is an important part of growing up and becoming a functioning adult (Paige & Magpuri-Lavell, 2014). In middle school, one of the main ideas of reading is to access knowledge found in the text (Paige & Magpuri-Lavell, 2014). According to Job and Coleman (2016), students from fifth grade and beyond are expected to read for content and comprehension.

Teachers should understand the importance of motivation to read for students based on their gender and age (McGeown, Duncan, Griffiths, & Stothard, 2015). This understanding will help the teacher choose reading activities of interest to students (McGeown et al., 2015). Daniels and Steres (2011) noted when teachers of middle school students prioritized reading and students became active participants in reading, students were motivated to read and viewed it as important. Reading is an essential part of school, but to motivate some students to read, teachers must make reading something the students want to do, not something they must do (Daniels & Steres, 2011).

Graphic novels may be beneficial in helping to decrease disparities in academic achievement among different races and ages (Downey, 2009). Graphic novels are most likely to be used as a tool for reluctant readers and a motivator for those students who do not enjoy reading (Connors, 2015). Middle school students show motivation in reading

when the material is relevant to their own lives. Students are also motivated to read when peer interaction is used in the class (Guthrie, Klauda, & Ho, 2013). Researchers have found a strong positive correlation between reading achievement and those students who read outside of school for pleasure (Mucherah & Ambrose-Stahl, 2014).

Using graphic novels is one way teachers can improve student literacy. Adding graphic novels to a school's curriculum can be beneficial. Connors (2015) stated that although many teachers believe graphic novels lack the complexity to tie to the Common Core State Standards and prepare students for standardized tests, graphic novels do provide a sophisticated environment for the negotiating of meaning by using the idea of multimodal literacy. Connors (2015) also stated educators could use graphic novels to help students engage critically, with ways of making sense of the world around them.

The Common Core State Standards include an emphasis on digital print, encouraging schools to include sophisticated and challenging texts (Tomasevich, 2013). The inclusion of graphic novels is specifically mentioned in the Common Core State Standards to be a part of Grade 5–12 standards (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010). Using graphic novels to analyze a particular skill such as setting in a story is an effective way to teach students skills (Tomasevich, 2013). Furthermore, using graphic novels is a way to differentiate instruction (Tomasevich, 2013). Graphic novels can be used to teach complex skills such as finding the main idea, comparing and contrasting, and evaluating the quality of the writing, while using visuals to help students break down these complex skills (Tomasevich, 2013).

Clark (2013) studied preservice teachers using graphic novels to teach history class and reported noteworthy findings recommending teachers consider using graphic

novels. Each teacher in the preservice program found that graphic novels were valuable in the classroom (Clark, 2013). Teachers also offered reasons graphic novels might not be added to a curriculum; one reason was that the community might not respond well to the use of graphic novels. As every teacher has a unique way of teaching, it is important to know how teachers feel about using certain materials in their classroom (Barberos, Gozalo, & Padayogdog, n.d.). Thus, understanding teachers' perceptions of using graphic novels in the classroom to teach reluctant readers is valuable.

Deficiencies in the Evidence

There is not a lot of literature on using graphic novels to motivate reluctant middle school readers. Much of the literature on graphic novels focused on high school and college students. This study adds to literature on how teachers feel about using graphic novels to help motivate reluctant readers. Hammond (2009) suggested a survey be conducted to find out if and how teachers are using graphic novels. Graphic novels can help students learn to read, get their attention, or help students who are not interested in reading (Yildirim, 2013).

Audience

English teachers who are looking for a way to involve and engage students in reading would benefit from reading this study. School librarians and administrators also may find the study valuable. School personnel, such as guidance counselors and extra support teachers, may find this study useful to engage readers who are often reluctant to read a traditional novel.

Definition of Terms

Graphic novels. For this study, a graphic novel is defined as a long comic book

that needs a bookmark (Spiegelman, 2013). The graphic novel is an extended comic book that treats nonfictional as well as fictional plots and themes with the depth and subtlety typically associated with traditional novels and extended nonfictional texts (Tabachnick, 2009).

Literacy. Literacy is a complex set of cognitive skills and social practices that involve people's use of one or more modes (e.g., print, image, music, color) to make meaning (Connors, 2015).

Reluctant reader. The reluctant reader shows doubt and is not willing or eager to read. The person is not unable to read but will not read voluntarily (Bennett, 2016).

Schema theory. This theory posits how knowledge is stored, based on knowledge being organized in units within systems (Brozo, Moorman, & Meyer, 2014).

Sequential art. Images are displayed in succession to convey a message or a story (Brozo et al., 2014).

Traditional novel. A traditional novel, unlike a graphic novel, has one or fewer pictures per chapter (Jennings et al., 2014).

Visual literacy. This term refers to the ability to interpret, negotiate, and make meaning from information presented in the form of an image, as well as to produce visual images (Bakis, 2012a).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the perceptions of teachers in a private school in Florida regarding their students' use of graphic novels to increase their motivation to read. The study helped determine how the inclusion of graphic novels can be used to benefit struggling and reluctant middle school readers.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

For this study, diverse topics were researched to gain an understanding of what other practitioners have done before, as well as to learn about different aspects of graphic novels and how they relate to the current study. The chapter begins with a brief explanation of the theoretical framework of this study: Brozo et al.'s (2014) schema theory. Then, visual literacy is explained, followed by a discussion of building literacy with graphic novels. The graphic novel is then defined, and the rise of graphic novels in the classroom is discussed. Literature on reading graphic novels and impact on reading comprehension is reviewed. Incorporating graphic novels into various curricula as well as building a graphic novel section in a school library are described. Gender is discussed in relation to the graphic novel, followed by a review of opposition to using graphic novels in the classroom. The chapter ends with the research questions guiding this study.

Saturation of the literature was reached after extensive journal searches led to no new information on the subject, as well as books repeating the same information.

Theoretical Framework

The schema theory as identified by Brozo et al. (2014) was used as the theoretical framework for this study. All people develop a metaphorical place in their mind where knowledge is stored (Brozo et al., 2014). The teachers involved in this study were expected to create a graphic novel schema after completing the survey. Teachers would create a place in their mind where they might store information about using graphic novels for helping reluctant readers.

The theoretical framework for this study came from the work of Brozo et al. (2014), who noted the theoretical perspectives of schema theory. All people develop

schemas based on personal experiences. Brozo et al. explained,

When new information is encountered, no matter in what form, it is assimilated into existing, related schema. For example, when a child first encounters a dog, the child creates a "dog schema." Each new encounter with a dog enriches the existing schema. (p. 7)

Schema theory fits into this study by teachers answering questions about graphic novels, since this survey was a new encounter with teachers and their thoughts about graphic novels. More importantly, the use of graphic novels can activate student interest in reading by engaging their prior experience, or schemas. Gavigan (2014) stated teachers need to build bridges using the content that is taught and existing schemas, or learners' previous experiences. Introducing graphic novels can help teachers refocus attention on the knowledge structures that students bring with them to school (Brozo et al., 2014).

Visual Literacy

Graphic novels engage readers in two modes or types of literacy: complex reading skills, or critical literacy, and interpreting images, or visual literacy (Dallacqua, 2012). Graphic novels are a recognized form to support students who learn not only from reading but also from visual clues (Huseyin, 2015). "Visual literacy is education that enhances understanding of the role of function of images in representation and communication, especially in the media" (Newfield, 2011, p. 82). Picture books such as graphic novels can help serve a pedagogical function and teach children how to decode and cultivate reading skills (Joseph, 2012).

Joseph (2012) also stated that these types of books could help introduce new readers to the idea that books can bring pleasure and power. Many educators believe that

the graphic novel can be an important tool to help students learn visual literacy skills (Connors, 2015). The use of graphic novels can be a potent tool in education. Burmack (2008) noted, according to research from the 3M Corporation, that humans process visuals 60,000 times faster than text. Images are powerful due to the way humans are wired physiologically (Burmack, 2008). Teaching students to be visually literate is as important as teaching them how to read (Froschauer, 2012). The artwork in graphic novels uses visual clues, which help students figure out word meaning (Crowley, 2015). The Association of College and Research Libraries (2011) has competency standards for learning using visual literacy.

Color is the major part of an image, according to Burmack (2008). Color visuals increase a student's desire to read by up to 80% (Burmack, 2008). Burmack also noted that color has a positive effect on comprehension and recall.

Designing visual literacy for students with disabilities can be beneficial for helping these students demonstrate what they know (Kluth, 2008). Students enjoy learning in an environment where visual supports are provided. Kluth (2008) explained students with a disability often have trouble with traditional presentations, which contain content lecture and whole-group discussion. Everyone sees an image as they want to see it, one of the boundless parts about reading a graphic novel. This perspective can lead to creative discussions, with students interpreting different things happening in an image (Connors, 2015).

Building Literacy With Graphic Novels

Addressing literacy in schools today has become a top priority (National Literacy Trust, 2016). Many schools are looking for ways to make students become readers for

life. Some students complain that reading is boring and at times difficult to comprehend. Some students who are considered reluctant readers are in fact able to read well; their interest just depends on the material they are reading (Crawford, 2004). Many young readers prefer comics and graphic novels to traditional books due to the pictures that help them better understand the story.

Teachers are also using graphic novels to help students in a response to intervention program (Smetana & Grisham, 2011). Helping students in a response to intervention program read with graphic novels is a way to increase students' excitement about reading (Smetana & Grisham, 2011).

Time also has been a factor for students not wanting to read. A traditional novel can take a long time to read, especially when a student is struggling to comprehend everything that is happening. When a graphic novel is used, a student can read that book in a single sitting or over a few days. The pictures help the student understand what is happening in the story (Sabeti, 2013).

According to the research, mixing words and images is an excellent way to foster comprehension and memory skills (Carter, 2007). Students have a higher success rate when they encode words using visuals, as opposed to encoding them verbally. Literacy requires the reader to engage much more in the act of reading. Readers need to be able to create images in their mind as they read; this is where graphic novels come into play (Versaci, 2008). To foster literacy, students should be engaged in reading materials that reward meaningful analysis; help them make connections with their lives; and make them active members of the literary education, rather than consumers of it (Versaci, 2008). According to Versaci (2008), one of the best kinds of engaging reading material that

achieves these goals is the graphic novel. Using various texts in helping to build literacy is important. Every student has his or her way of obtaining factual information and processing that information. Therefore, using different formats is important to help nurture different learning styles (Fleishhacker, 2017).

The mixture of words and visual aids to convey messages occurs frequently (Carter, 2007). Public signs guide people to food, hotels, and dangers on the road, all through the use of text and images. Showing students text alongside visuals is similarly as essential as instructing students to read text without them. In some cases, visuals are much more important than words. For example, pictures for traffic signals are usually wordless, requiring the driver to either know what they mean or to decipher the meaning. No matter the application, the end goal is to join reading proficiency with visuals. Students should choose reading materials that interest them; pictures combined with words can interest a variety of students, including reluctant readers (Fleishhacker, 2017).

The Definition of a Graphic Novel

After many years of publishing comic books, publishers began to print graphic novels, initially taking stories that spanned over several comic books and placed them into a book format, thus creating the graphic novel (McCloud, 1993). Authors had the idea to skip writing individual comics and to tell a story in graphic novel form. Many stories were stand-alone tales, which focused on a superhero or told an original story created by the author (McCloud, 1993).

Comic books and graphic novels are not the same. Although the authors of both formats tell stories, there is a significant difference between the two. The graphic novel focuses on a more complex story, which contains multiple characters and intertwining

story arcs, whereas a comic book focuses on a much simpler story, usually told in a single issue of a comic book series (Baetens & Frey, 2015). They also differ in the how they are published; a graphic novel is released as a book, and a comic is more of a magazine. Graphic novels are also distributed differently; they are sold through bookstores and comic books shops. They are aimed at the regular consumer and not just fans of comic books (Baetens & Frey, 2015). Spiegelman (2013) noted, "It's a great marketing term. What I called *Maus* while I was working on it was a long comic book that needed a bookmark and has to be reread" (para. 21).

Another type of graphic novel is the nonfiction graphic novel. *Trinity: A Graphic History of the First Atomic Bomb*, by Fetter-Vorm (2012), tells the history of the atomic bomb in a graphic novel, which is a fine testament to the power of graphic storytelling in serious nonfiction (Legro, 2012). In a conversation with Jonathan Fetter-Vorm, he said,

I would classify nonfiction graphic novels as any sequential visual narrative that derives its authority from documentary evidence of the testimony of lived experience. That is a provisional definition. . . . No one has ever asked me to put it into words. (J. Fetter-Vorm, personal communication, January 22, 2018)

Fleishhacker (2017) noted science-based nonfiction graphic novels combine humor and eye-popping images to teach students science topics. These types of graphic works engage students as if they were there in the moment, activating their imaginations while they learn about biology, anthropology, archaeology, anatomy, or physics (Fleishhacker, 2017).

Graphic novels can be useful in helping students improve reading skills. Moeller (2011) stated graphic novels could help to improve reading skills of students whose

native language is English, as well as students learning English as a second language. The graphic novel is similar to a regular novel, except the reader uses both verbal and visual clues to arrive at the meaning of the work (Tabachnick, 2015). Moeller (2013) noted that graphic novels are a format and not a literature genre. The distinction is important, because graphic novels can have many genres.

McCloud (1993), an expert in the field of graphic novels, stated, "The first step in any such effort is to clear our minds of all preconceived notions about comics. Only by starting from scratch can we discover the full range of possibilities comics offer" (p. 199). Satrapi, the author of a graphic autobiography, stated,

I had the idea about comics that everyone else had about comics. It's really for kids, or adolescents, then I read *Maus* . . . and I realized, it was just a medium like any other to express yourself. In my mind the images and the text, they are not separated. (IFC News, 2007)

Another explanation of the definition of a graphic novel is the following:

Graphic novels are similar to comic books because they use sequential art to tell a story. Unlike comic books, graphic novels are stand-alone stories with more complex plots. Collections of short stories that have been previously published as individual comic books are also considered graphic novels. ("What Are Graphic Novels?," 2007, para. 2)

The Rise of Graphic Novels in the Classroom

Graphic novels have become more popular due to digital technology (Lubin, 2014). The graphic novel emerged from comic books, which were multimodal and an early form of hypertext, because words and images were used in the process of sequential

art (Brozo et al., 2014). Using the visual cues is an important part of reading graphic novels and can help students navigate through difficult reading strategies (Brozo & Mayville, 2012). Brozo and Mayville (2012) argued that graphic novels are a real-world teaching resource that comes from the everyday lives of youth; when put in the hands of skilled teachers, graphic novels can heighten student engagement, build their knowledge of disciplinary topics, and expand students' literacy. The use of graphic novels in schools has increased since reports have been shared widely about their potential to help in the classroom (Moeller, 2011).

According to Gavigan (2014), graphic novels have emerged as a top literary format among visually literate youth. Understanding or learning new knowledge is the process of relating to the unknown (Gavigan, 2014). Teachers need to build bridges using the content that is taught and existing schemas, or learners' previous experiences (Gavigan, 2014). Introducing graphic novels can help teachers refocus attention on the knowledge structures that students bring with them to school (Brozo et al., 2014).

The School Board of Calgary found graphic novels similar in literature structure to traditional novels (National Council of Teachers of English, 2005). They contain a beginning, middle, and end. Main characters are also established, and they change through conflicts in the story (National Council of Teachers of English, 2005). The biggest difference between a traditional novel and graphic novel is the graphic novel's text is both written and visual (National Council of Teachers of English, 2005).

Graphic novels are being seen in a new light by many educators, and with the Common Core State Standards placing importance on using informational text, many schools are recognizing the potential of using graphic novels for helping students reach

grade-level Common Core State Standards (Bakis, 2012b). Every student is required to read a novel at some point in his or her school career. Reading graphic novels promotes better reading skills, improves comprehension, and complements other areas of the curriculum (McTaggart, 2008). According to McTaggart (2008), students who, due to a physiological, environmental, or cultural background, are unable to form pictures in their head while reading the printed word are not reading. These students are simply identifying and recalling words; the words give them no meaning and do not bring enjoyment to the reader (McTaggart, 2008).

Yildirim (2013) noted that graphic novels could be used in the classroom with an array of purposes. They have the ability to facilitate comprehension by combining images with text, and images along with the text are especially helpful for visual learners. Educators who have used graphic novels in their classrooms have given positive feedback on their use as a pedagogical tool (Yildirim, 2013). Reading graphic novels in the classroom can offer many benefits for struggling readers. Struggling readers comprise the bottom 10% of their class; they are not able to decode or comprehend text well, so they spend much less time trying to read books (Green, 2010). Many struggling readers will often guess at what the words are. Also, they will use pictures associated with the story to help figure out the meaning of words they are reading (Green, 2010). Bakis (2012a) suggested she can teach more graphic novels in the same amount of time as she would spend teaching lengthier texts; hence, she can introduce students to a wide array of stories and genres, which help keep students engaged. Bakis (2012a) also noted when students read graphic novels in the classroom, they can reread the novels for deeper understanding, which is often difficult to do with traditional novels.

Although the research is scarce, there is reasonable evidence that graphic novels motivate reluctant readers, provide assistance for struggling readers, foster visual literacy, and support English language learners (Brozo et al., 2014). Graphic novels are useful for teaching new reading skills as well as introducing students to new vocabulary (Alverson, 2014). The graphic novel also reinforces the left-to-right sequence, which is an important skill for an early reader to have (Alverson, 2014).

Reading Graphic Novels

Reading a graphic novel is different from reading a traditional novel. A traditional novel is read from left to right and usually contains few to no pictures, whereas a graphic novel contains many pictures. Graphic novels are usually but not always read from left to right. Dialogue can be read from starting at a bottom panel and then moving to a top panel (Monnin, 2013). The dialogue in a graphic novel can sometimes be read in the left column, continue down the page, and then end on top right of the page. Sometimes the dialogue can even move diagonally on a page. Maniace (2014) concluded from her study that if a teacher uses graphic novels in the classroom, students need specific instructions on how to read them. Someone new to comics or a graphic novel may initially experience confusion on how to read the material. Many people who try and read a comic for the first time follow the Z-path, reading left to right and down (Cohn & Campbell, 2015).

Paying attention to pictures in a graphic novel is just as or more important than reading the words. The pictures help tell the story and move it along (Friese, 2013). Friese (2013) explained the first time she read a graphic novel she had no idea what she had read. She admits that she just read the words without looking at the picture. Friese realized she had to retrain her brain; slowing down was important, and taking the time to

look at the visuals was as important as reading the text. Reading a graphic novel is very different from reading a traditional novel because of all the visuals. Teachers cannot assume that a graphic novel can be given to a student without a brief explanation on how to read through it.

Monnin (2013) identified 11 types of graphic novel panels, whereas McCloud (1993) identified the six types of gutters (the space between the panels), where the reader has to infer what happens between panels. Understanding how to read from panel to panel and gutter to gutter will help a reader navigate through a graphic novel with ease. Not only are the panel and gutters important to understand when reading a graphic, but according to both McCloud and Monnin, word balloons also are an important part of a graphic novel.

McCloud (1993) stressed the many different types of word balloons. Whereas some are common and most readers will understand them immediately, for other types, the reader has to learn what the word balloons mean (McCloud, 1993). Some graphic novels contain word balloons that have very faint text, indicating that the person is whispering. Another type of word balloon might be easier to infer, such as one dripping with ice, clueing the reader that the person talking is being unfriendly to someone.

Reading Comprehension and Graphic Novels

Monnin (2013) and Brenna (2013) noted that reading graphic novels can help increase students' reading comprehension, because students use the images to help them recall what has happened in the story. Maderazo et al. (2010) found that when students put pictures and words together, they developed better critical thinking skills and comprehension. Students also are more likely to improve their reading skills when they

are not made to read, especially when they have little to no interest in the material (McTaggart, 2008). Meuer (2016) noted that students are better able to retain plot elements after reading a graphic novel and also remembered graphic novels days after reading them.

Benefits of graphic novels with reluctant readers. Motivating students to read can be a daunting task. A cartoon by Lunarbaboon (see Figure) shows a girl who is bored by reading, but when her father turns her book into a graphic novel, she responds, "Reading is awesome."



Figure. Graphic novels can interest reluctant readers: A cartoon by Lunarbaboon. Reprinted with permission from "Graphic," by Lunarbaboon, 2017, retrieved from http://www.lunarbaboon.com/comics/graphic.html. © 2017 Lunarbaboon.

This cartoon in the Figure demonstrates the power that a graphic novel can have on motivating someone to read. According to Bakis (2012a), students will read a graphic novel and not just pretend to follow along with the teacher. Not only can graphic novels help students who are less motivated about reading, they also can also offer various benefits, such as students wanting to read more and increasing literacy skills (Tomasevich, 2013).

Many students also find the experience with visuals aesthetically pleasurable (Bakis, 2012a). Children look and recognize before they can speak (Berger, 2006).

Jennings et al. (2014) noted when using graphic novels with students, reading comprehension increased, and they developed a deeper understanding of the material.

Graphic novels are not just used to target reluctant readers. McTaggart (2008) noted that graphic novels would benefit strong readers as well as reluctant readers. Graphic novels serve as an equalizer between academically achieving and struggling learners (McTaggart, 2008). Students tend to develop a sense of togetherness when they feel a common interest and passion for what they are doing (McTaggart, 2008). The pairings of words and images can give learning a jump by creating new ways to create memories and associations (Alverson, 2014).

English language learners and graphic novels. English language learners also can benefit from the use of graphic novels. Howard (2012) found English language learner students preferred to read graphic novels, especially fiction stories. Graphic novels can be used to bridge the gaps between reading levels, and struggling readers develop necessary reading skills (Wetta, 2013). The novels are also helpful for visual learners; the reader must decipher what is happening between text and the images. The

reader must look at the facial expression and body language of a character to determine the mood; this will replace the learner having to read through long text passages to learn how the character is feeling (Howard, 2012). Graphic novels also teach advanced reading skills, such as inference, which can be very beneficial to a struggling reader.

According to Basal, Aytan, and Demir (2016), the use of visuals and text in a story line is more efficient in teaching idiomatic expressions than using traditional methods. When these two modalities are used together, they help create strong connections between the visuals and the figurative idioms. In a study by Sloboda et al. (2014), when using graphic novels to teach comprehension, the researchers noticed an increase in the students' vocabulary. Sloboda et al. credited the increase in vocabulary to the graphic novel's use of sequential art.

Incorporating Graphic Novels Into the Curriculum

The use of graphic novels can drive current traditional curriculum goals, accompany the instruction of new literacies, offer new topics with which teachers and students can engage, and enable new ways of learning (Schwarz, 2010). Teachers first used graphic novels in English literature classrooms as a teaching tool for struggling or reluctant readers (Brozo et al., 2014). Graphics combined with text can make decoding and comprehending the story a simpler task (Brozo et al., 2014). However, age-appropriate graphic novels can be incorporated into many subject areas (McTaggart, 2008). Many graphic novels are available to help supplement history, literature, science, math, and history (McTaggart, 2008). In addition to using graphic novels to teach the core subjects, McTaggart (2008) gave suggestions for using them to teach music, health, and art. McTaggart also suggested that the graphic novels are not a replacement for the

required text but should be used to supplement the subject. Using graphic nonfiction can make a dry topic more appealing (Fagan & Fagan, 2011). Perhaps this is why teachers are using graphic novels to teach many literary skills; they can use them to teach across the curriculum and cover almost any subject area.

Graphic novels in history classes. Graphic novels can be beneficial in teaching history. Many graphic novels are based on historical events, and when paired with history textbooks, students can open up their world to a new way to learn about the past (Cromer & Clark, 2007). Traditionally, students' development of historical, social, and political understanding relied heavily on the textbook (Brozo et al., 2014). Students were taught to memorize important dates and facts from history (Brozo et al., 2014). Rich, multilayered graphic novels are one means to help students appreciate the complexity of history (Cromer & Clark, 2007). Schneider (2016) noticed Art Spiegelman's graphic novel *Maus* was a powerful learning tool and could assist teacher instruction about the Holocaust.

According to Alverson (2014), rather than having their students read for specific dates from history, teachers would assign their class to read a graphic novel such as Butzer's (2008) *Gettysburg: The Graphic Novel* paired with a history textbook. Students can scan the graphic novel, and it makes distant events live and breathe (Alverson, 2014).

For example, to lay the foundation of a lesson on the pre-Civil Rights period of the early 20th century, a graphic novel such as Johnson and Pleece's (2009) *Incognegro* may be used along with the textbook (Brozo et al., 2014). This graphic novel tells a pre-Civil Rights story, using text and visuals to give the students an understanding of what life was like during that period (Brozo et al., 2014). After students have read the book, they are instructed to recreate important scenes from the novel, only using present-day

speech and slang (Brozo et al., 2014). Students do not have to be artists for the assignment, as they can use a website that allows students to create comic book panels (Brozo et al., 2014).

Graphic novels in science courses. The use of graphic novels in a science classroom can have positive benefits (Brozo et al., 2014): (a) increasing student attention and engagement; (b) "fostering greater science learning for all students, particularly reluctant learners" (p. 77); (c) increasing higher order and critical thinking; (d) offering access to science concepts; (e) clarifying misconceptions; (f) "making science learning fun" (p. 77); and (g) allowing unique options to assess student knowledge. Science-related graphic novels use a variety of dialogue and images; students can interpret science concepts through an accessible and unique format (Brozo et al., 2014). This format can open a gateway to science for many reluctant learners (Brozo et al., 2014). Brozo and Mayville (2012) described using graphic novels as a supplement to the exploration of science units. Students remember the science from an entertaining story because the knowledge is presented in context (Brozo et al., 2014).

Fleishhacker (2017) identified numerous science graphic novels. Many are nonfiction graphic novels, such as *Human Body Theater: A Nonfiction Revue* (Wicks, 2015), which teaches complex biology topics with a vaudeville flair (Fleishhacker, 2017). Science biographies presented as graphic novels also can be a tool for teaching about famous scientists, and these graphic novels contain illustrations depicting these scientists' contributions to the world as well as their experiments (Fleishhacker, 2017). Fiction novels can be used to tell stories based on ideas that are yet to come to fruition, such as time travel (Fleishhacker, 2017). Younger students can even learn science with the

Batman Science graphic novels for Grades 3–9 (Fleishhacker, 2017).

Graphic novels in mathematics courses. Integrating graphic novels into a math curriculum may not be as difficult as it sounds (Hughes, 2016). It is possible with properly researched novels, such as *The Manga Guide to Calculus* by Kojima and *The Manga Guide to Linear Algebra* by Takahshi (as cited in Hughes, 2016). Students taking math courses need to learn a variety of skills, ranging from learning facts to procedures (Brozo et al., 2014). Developing the capacity for new ways to learn helps students expand their understanding and solutions to new problems (Brozo et al., 2014). The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (2003) made an important connection between math and literacy: "Students who have opportunities, encouragement, and support for speaking, writing, reading and listening in mathematics classes reap dual benefits: They communicate to learn mathematics and they learn to communicate mathematically" (p. 60).

During a visit to geometry classroom, Brozo et al. (2014) met a teacher who used graphic novels in the classroom to introduce and help comprehend difficult concepts. The teacher incorporated stories, books, and articles into the geometry course without sacrificing any essential content, while increasing the interest level of the students (Brozo et al., 2014). *Introducing Fractals: A Graphic Guide* by Lesmoir-Gordon and Edney (as cited in Brozo et al., 2014) takes a complicated subject and, with the use of text and visuals, makes the material easier to learn.

The graphic novel and 21st century learning. The ability to communicate effectively in the 21st century necessitates multiple literacies (Connors, 2015). Versaci (2008) recommended using graphic novels to teach children, as using words along with

images helps students with their communication skills when engaging in discussions. Traditional teaching involves many different types of material to differentiate the lesson. Brozo et al. (2014) described one observation of a teacher, who used a graphic organizer, study guide, and a textbook. Students read the textbook to answer the questions from the study guide. Upon completion of the study guide, the teacher led a discussion on the material (Brozo et al., 2014). Once the material had been reviewed, students were encouraged to review the study guide to prepare for a test (Brozo et al., 2014). Conversely, the 21st century teacher is fluent in the language of newer technologies and media, and his or her teaching heightens student engagement and learning (Brozo et al., 2014). The use of graphic novels in a lesson eliminates barriers between students' outside-of-school interests and literacies and the teacher's classroom practices (Brozo et al., 2014); the inclusion of the graphic novel allows students to read material they might never have tried before.

Schemas form a complex filing system. Understanding new information and gaining new knowledge is the process of relating to the new to the known (Brozo et al., 2014). Teaching is the process of building a bridge between the content to be learned and students' existing schemas or knowledge structures. Learning is accommodating, that is, adjusting, both the new information in relation to what is already known to the new information. Too much of current curriculum efforts, including Common Core State Standards, focuses only on new content. Graphic novels can help teachers refocus attention on the existing knowledge structures that students bring with them to school (Brozo et al., 2014).

Building a Graphic Novel Section in a School Library

Since 2000, the number of graphic novels has increased exponentially, with some having appeared on recommended book lists (Williams & Peterson, 2009). A graphic novel section in a school library can open the door to a whole new genre of reading. However, many librarians are reluctant to add a graphic novel section (Pattee, 2014). School librarians must act as leaders and create an environment in which students can develop their attitudes and capacities (Gavigan, 2012). Stephens (2014) noted that comics and graphic novels differ vastly from a textual narrative. Graphic novels can be found in student-centered library collections (Stephens, 2014). Still, many librarians resist the inclusion of graphic novels in their school libraries and devalue the reading pleasure of students who appreciate the visual text (Stephens, 2014). School libraries that provide a wide selection of high-quality reading material enable students to choose books that appeal to their general interest and will motivate them to read more (Fleishhacker, 2017).

School and public librarians must create a section for young readers to find books that appeal to them (Pattee, 2014). Librarians have begun to recognize the importance of reorganizing the space for teen readers. This new section would be composed of a variety of multimedia, ranging from graphic novels to teen novels (Pattee, 2014). The Common Core State Standards Initiative (2010) also explained the significance of comprehending different types of media:

To be ready for college, workforce training, and life in a technological society, students need the ability to gather, comprehend, evaluate, synthesize, and report on information and ideas, to conduct original research in order to answer questions or solve problems, and to analyze and create a high volume and

extensive range of print and nonprint texts in media forms old and new. (p. 4)

Gender and the Graphic Novel

Emerging research has shown graphic novels have an abundance of educational value when used with male students (Tomasevich, 2013). Tonegato (2012) stated that using graphic novels with struggling male readers helped as a motivational factor.

Moeller (2011) conducted a study of reading graphic novels among high school girls and boys. The boys in the study were surprised at the number of girls who wanted to be in the study (Moeller, 2011). One boy commented on how he thought reading graphic novels was a cultural thing, and he did not expect many girls would be interested in reading graphic novels. This led Moeller (2011) to determine the reading of graphic novels is in fact associated with gender. During discussions of the graphic novels, Moeller (2011) noticed the girls discussed the stories differently than the boys. The boys were interested in the actions taken or not taken by the characters, whereas the girls were interested in the characters' feelings and relationships with other characters.

When Moeller (2011) started out to do her research, she noted the majority of graphic novel readers were male. Moeller's (2011) attempt to get female students to read graphic novels was first met with resistance, with many girls saying, "Those are boy books" (p. 1). Moeller (2011) concluded from her study that male students were drawn to the vivid colors and nonfiction; both were characteristics of male interest, whereas female students enjoyed books with deep meaning and character relationships.

To interest females in graphic novels, graphic novel publisher Papercutz launched a graphic novel imprint called *Charmz* (Alverson, 2015). According to Alverson (2015), *Charmz* focuses on relationship-driven stories aimed towards preteen and early teen girls.

These new graphic novels align with what Moeller's (2011) study concluded about females wanting to read stories focused on the relationships between characters and not too action heavy. Each creative team behind *Charmz* graphic novels features at least one female writer; the publishing company indicated this might help make the novels appealing to a younger female audience (Alverson, 2015).

Moeller (2011) also noted boys' enjoyment of reading differed from the girls. Whereas both groups enjoyed the graphic novels, girls preferred to read a traditional novel, using their imaginative skills in their reading experience. Whereas the girls liked to use their imagination, the boys enjoyed the illustrations, which helped to move the story along and showed exactly what was happening (Moeller, 2011). This does not mean boys do not think creatively; in fact, in one study, boys scored higher than girls on figural items in divergent thinking measures (Ülger & Morsünbül, 2016).

Moeller (2011) noted both groups used the word *nerd* to describe people who read graphic novels. Further, the boys did not mind being called nerds; many were self-proclaimed nerds who took pride in knowing about computers and writing code.

However, the girls did not feel the same way. The girls conducted much of their reading at home, for fear of being labeled a nerd by their peers (Moeller, 2011).

Opposition to Using Graphic Novels

Criticism from outside the classroom. Much criticism for the use of graphic novels comes from outside the classroom, from noneducators who feel strongly against them (Hansen, 2012). An article by Concordia University (2012) noted,

Critics who oppose the use of graphic novels in academics are afraid of "messing with the classics." Since much of the story in a graphic novel is expressed in

pictures, rather than words, some worry that replacing too many standard books with graphic novels will result in a decline in overall literacy. (para. 3)

Those who oppose the use of graphic novels may do so because at the secondary level, students should be able to read text (Connors, 2010). Connors (2010) noted that students should be able to read a text and create images with their minds. Hansen (2012) noted that much criticism against graphic novels also stated they gave misinformation about love, morals, and social class. Much opposition has come from the use of the term *graphic novel*; the definition is imprecise, as people associate the term *graphic* to mean the book will contain bloody, sexual, and violent images (Hansen, 2012). Some people oppose graphic novels claiming that they are too childish and the images of cartoons do not belong in books (Hansen, 2012). Hansen also noted that the biggest opposition to graphic novels is that they rely so heavily on visual elements.

Criticism from inside the classroom. Opposition for using graphic novels from inside the classroom also exists (Hansen, 2012). Kern (2016) noted that if graphic novels are not incorporated into standardized tests, they are unlikely to be taught in the classroom. Further, much stigma comes from teachers, many of whom feel that graphic novels should only be used with students who show poor reading skills (Hansen, 2012). Students even have opposition to graphic novels. Connors (2010) noted that many students were against graphic novels in the classroom. Many students felt that illustrations belonged in elementary level books, as young students are still learning to form ideas and comprehend things. Students reported that as they get older, they are more than capable of reading books without pictures and forming their ideas (Connors, 2010). Some students also stated that providing pictures strips away a young mind from being

creative and a critical thinker about books (Connors, 2010).

Clark (2013) used preservice teachers to evaluate nonfiction graphic novels in history classes. One teacher in Clark's study said that although he enjoyed reading the graphic novels, he would not use them in his class, as he thought he might lose his credibility. Another teacher said that using graphic novels to teach history might lead students and parents to view the class as easier than classes not using graphic novels (Clark, 2013).

Graphic Novel Studies

Studies have investigated the use of graphic novels and whether or not they are beneficial in schools. Clark (2013) noted that preservice teachers felt that graphic novels have a place in the classroom but were hesitant to use them, fearing negative stigma. Jiménez, Roberts, Brugar, Meyer, and Waito (2017) noted that reading novels in graphic form benefited comprehension in one sixth-grade class. They noted that the combination of words and pictures in the text helped students decode words on pages. Jiménez et al. also noted that during free reading more students turned to a graphic novel than a traditional novel. While the study was aimed at teaching students strategies for reading graphic novels, the researchers never specifically addressed reluctant readers. Clark discussed how graphic novels have been used to motivate reluctant readers, but their study of preservice teachers did not indicate whether teachers viewed using them as a tool for reaching reluctant readers; conversely, although preservice teachers viewed graphic novels as a useful tool, they still feared stigma in the classroom.

Research Questions

This study was guided by four research questions, using a case study design:

- 1. What are teachers' perceptions of the inclusion of graphic novels to help teach reluctant readers?
 - 2. How do the teachers feel about using graphic novels across the curriculum?
- 3. What suggestions do the teachers have regarding best practices in using graphic novels along with traditional, text-only novels?
 - 4. How do the current curricula outline the use of graphic novels?

Chapter 3: Methodology

Aim of the Study

This qualitative study was designed to understand teachers' perceptions of the use of graphic novels in the classroom. The use of graphic novels in the classroom has become more commonplace since 2008, yet they are still viewed as a new tool in schools (Jennings et al., 2014).

Qualitative Research Approach

A qualitative case study was chosen for this study because the study purpose was to explain how a group of people felt about using graphic novels in school (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2013). The case study approach was used to explore the activities of a small group rather than the shared patterns of a group's behavior (Edmonds & Kennedy, 2013). Stake (1995) stated that in a qualitative study, the research questions typically orient to cases or phenomena.

As stated by Stake (1995), a case study was expected to show the complexity of a single case, the object studied in the case study. When using a case study, researchers must look for the detail of interaction within its context (Stake, 1995). Stake also stated that a single phenomenon, whether a leaf or a classroom, has unique complexities, which makes using a case study ideal for gathering information for teachers' perceptions of graphic novels. The study relied on data collected from a teacher questionnaire on graphic novels as well as the curricula across several subjects. The goal was to gain insight into a problem without actually being there (Stake, 1995). Triangulating the data from the two sources helped to increase the validity of the study (Terrel, 2016). Using the curricula to look for any mention of the use of graphic novels and comparing the findings

to the teachers' responses helped to make the findings valid. Qualitative data are more vivid than quantitative data; qualitative data are clear and give information to help determine meaning (Plano Clark & Creswell, 2008). After the study was concluded, I have a better understanding of how teachers perceived the use of graphic novels in their classrooms to reach reluctant readers.

Using this approach also would indicate whether teachers were interested in using graphic novels in schools. The teachers' responses would indicate why or why not they chose to include graphic novels.

The researcher of the case study, as described by Yin (2002, 2016) gets as close to the subjects as possible, by means of direct observation in a natural setting and gathering information through thoughts, feelings, and desires. The case study approach is used to explore the meaning of a lived experience of the phenomenon. Using this approach helped examine the commonalities across individuals. In this study, the triangulation between the teachers' answers and the curricula they use gave further insight.

Participants

The study took place at a suburban private school in Florida. The population of the staff was diverse, with 20 males and 72 females with an age range between 27 and 65. The researcher used convenience sampling, which involved selecting participants who were both easily accessible and willing to participate in the study (Plano Clark & Creswell, 2008). The population was 92 middle school teachers in Grades 5–8. Fifty-one teachers followed the link and agreed to take the survey; of these, 13 did not answer any survey questions after clicking on the link and therefore provided no data. The final sample was 38 teachers who completed the survey. Convenience sampling was chosen

because of the large size of the teacher faculty. The names of the teachers were given as master list from the schools assistant principal.

After I gained Institutional Review Board approval, teachers were informed of the study during a faculty meeting. The teachers were told that I was conducting a study on the use of graphic novels. The teachers were told that participation was not mandatory.

An information letter was given out at the faculty meeting with a link to the questionnaire at the bottom of the letter.

All of the names of the teachers would remain anonymous, and their answers would not be shared with other teachers who took the questionnaire or any other school personnel. The questionnaire was administered through SurveyMonkey (2018). The teachers who opened the link to the questionnaire completed a consent form, which was Question 1 of the questionnaire. Failure to consent prevented the participant from completing the questionnaire. The teachers had 1 week to complete the questionnaire.

Data Collection Tools

I used a researcher-created questionnaire (see Appendix) with elements pulled from Voss's (2011) survey and a survey by Lapp, Wolsey, Fisher, and Frey (2011). With permission of the authors, I used three questions from Voss's survey (Questions 5, 6, and 12 in the Appendix) and modified a few questions from Lapp et al.'s survey to fit into the structure of a qualitative study. Specifically, the original questions from the Lapp et al. survey were Likert agreement statements regarding whether graphic novels are "excellent texts for teaching inferences, "excellent texts for teaching visualizing," "useful for teaching students about dialogue," and "useful for teaching outlining skills." The modified question for this study was "Do you think graphic novels can help teach basic

reading skills, and why or why not?" Instead of having a survey question about reading skills, the new question let teachers answer in their own voice. This made the question appropriate for a qualitative study.

Lapp et al. (2011) investigated whether teachers found instructional value in using graphic novels. Voss's (2011) survey gathered information from teachers to determine whether a teaching strategy involving graphic novels could help struggling readers. My questionnaire was used to explore attitudes or opinions of the population of interest. The format was a questionnaire containing 15 questions on teachers' feelings towards graphic novels and reluctant readers. I sought to learn how teachers perceived the use of graphic novels with reluctant readers as well as how they viewed graphic novels across the curriculum. Some of the questions asked how teachers accommodated reluctant readers. Other questions asked how teachers felt about the inclusion of graphic novels across curricula and whether use of graphic novels could enhance a subject. Furthermore, some questions examined how teachers felt about using graphic novels to help teach basic reading skills. The findings were triangulated with the curricula from math, science, history, and English departments at the school to see how graphic novels were being used. Table 1 shows the time frame of the study

Role of the Researcher

My role at the site of the study is an administrative associate. Previously I was a fourth-grade English and writing teacher. I hold a Florida Department of Education professional certification as a teacher of English for Grades 6–12 and Educational Leadership. My role as researcher was to facilitate the study from an outsider's perspective. Because I work at the site where the study took place, it was important that I

distance myself from the teachers taking the questionnaire. I did not engage in any conversations about the questionnaire or answer specific questions regarding the questionnaire. Furthermore, I did not observe teachers taking the questionnaire or evaluate them based on their responses. Responses were anonymous.

Table 1

Time Frame and Procedures of the Study

Time	Instrument or materials	Activities
Week 1	Participant letter of anonymous questionnaire	At a faculty meeting, teachers were told about the questionnaire and given an anonymous participant form. The bottom of the letter contained a URL address for teachers to access the online questionnaire, including consent information.
Weeks 2–3	Graphic Novels—Teacher Questionnaire	Teachers accessed the Graphic Novels— Teacher Questionnaire through surveymonkey.com. Teachers had 1 week to complete it.
Week 4	Graphic Novels—Teacher Questionnaire results Qualitative software School curricula	I analyzed the results of the survey using qualitative software to determine themes. Then, I triangulated data with the school's curricula, looking for correlations between the results of the questionnaire and use of graphic novels in the curricula.
Week 5	Data analysis from the Graphic Novels—Teacher Questionnaire	I conducted member checks.

Data Analysis

Stake (1995) and Creswell and Plano Clark (2017) noted that the search for meaning often is a search for patterns and for consistency within certain conditions, termed \correspondence. Stake noted that a qualitative study capitalizes on ordinary ways of making sense. I used Creswell and Plano Clark's (2017) approach to coding data in the

study. Starting with small phrases, assigning a label, then grouping the codes into themes led to the emergence of broader themes (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2017). Looking for the reappearance of important meanings repeatedly was an important part of the data analysis (Stake, 1995). As I went over the data several times, patterns would emerge from the analysis (Stake, 1995).

The data collected in this study were qualitative; the participants in the study gave their opinions and thoughts in their own words about using graphic novels with reluctant readers. All of the answers to the survey were coded into themes that arose from the data, and these codes were grouped into broader themes (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2017). Stake (1995) and Creswell and Plano Clark (2017) noted that coding data would help divulge the broader findings of the study. The coding method for this study utilized preset codes initially; then, as the research moved along, emergent codes were used to help identify relationships, themes, concepts, and meanings arising from the data.

The researcher also utilized triangulation to help maintain accuracy and give alternative explanations (Stake, 1995). Yin (2016) referred to *triangulation* as an analytic technique used during fieldwork and formal analysis to corroborate a finding using evidence from two or more sources. When using triangulation, the results from the teacher questionnaire were compared to curricula that the research site uses and Common Core State Standards.

Ethical Considerations

Yin (22016) stated that behaving properly during a study is a matter of research integrity. Research integrity means that the data are accurate and the researcher can be trusted in making truthful statements in regards to the study (Yin, 2016). According to

Terrel (2016), ethical research is considered ethical only if the researcher ensures that all participants participate voluntarily and the participants are not harmed in any way. All of the data were real and were not tampered with in any way. All of the teachers' responses were private; no names were on the surveys, and I had no way of knowing how a particular teacher answered the questions. All documents will be kept on my personal computer for at least 3 years after the study has been completed. Only the researcher will have access to the computer, which is password protected. Any printed material will remain in the researcher's home under lock and key. After keeping the documents for 3 years, they will be shredded and recycled, and all documents on the computer will be deleted.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness is a function of four factors: credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformability (Terrel, 2016). As the researcher, I must feel confident in my findings and using member checks, which allow the researcher to ask key participants in the study if the findings are an accurate reflection of their experience (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2017). Using member checks can help to achieve trustworthiness (Kornbluh, 2015).

The study also should be transferable, which means that the findings can be used in a similar context (Terrel, 2016). This means that findings could be applicable to another school experiencing the same phenomena of teachers not using graphic novels and students being reluctant to read. However, qualitative findings are typically not transferable beyond the case studied other than as a foundation for further research.

To ensure confirmability was met in the study, I did not discuss the questionnaire

with the participants and did not influence their responses or try to sway them to answer questions in a certain way (Terrel, 2016). Furthermore, I presented the results of the questionnaire accurately to make sure the data reflected those who participated.

Potential Researcher Bias

Avoiding bias depends on being transparent with the data and reporting all of the findings, as Yin (2016) noted with data exclusion. I monitored my own work and knew when I might be tempted to exclude part of the findings (Yin, 2016). Furthermore, I acknowledged any preconceived notions before I collected the data in order to avoid allowing these preconceptions to influence data collection or analysis (Yin, 2016).

Chapter 4: Results

Chapter 4 presents the findings for this qualitative case study. The data are sorted by research question and presented in themes, which emerged from the coaxial coding of the data.

Sample

Participants were 38 teachers at a private middle school in Florida. Eight participants were men, 29 were women, and 1 did not respond to the question. Thirty-seven participants answered the survey question asking their age; the participants ranged from 29 to 67, with a mean age of 45. Table 2 shows the subject area taught by participants.

Table 2

Content Area of Participating Teachers (N = 38)

Content area	n
	- n
English/literature	11
Social studies/history	7
Science/engineering/computer science	6
Counselor	3
World languages/Spanish	3
Math	2
Administrator	2
Music	1
Drama	1
Journalism	1
Physical education	1
Social emotional learning	1
Pedagogical coach	1

Note. The two administrators offered two content areas as well.

Teachers seemed knowledgable about graphic novels. Survey Question 5 asked

respondents to define a graphic novel. Only three teachers responded, "A comic book." The rest provided an accurate definition of graphic novels as having a story line and being a long-format comic using visuals to tell the story in addition to narrative and dialog. Participant 16 even used the phrase "sequential artwork." Participant 26 observed, "The brain processes images 60,000 times faster than text," echoing research from the 3M Corporation (as cited in Burmack, 2008) cited in this dissertation's literature review.

Findings for Research Question 1

What are teachers' perceptions of the inclusion of graphic novels to help teach reluctant readers? In general, teachers were open to the idea of using graphic novels to teach reluctant readers. The idea that a graphic novel could be used to motivate and engage reluctant readers appealed to teachers. Currently, reading materials are chosen by school staff; teachers believed the resources in the classroom could be changed, as long as the students are engaged and learning from the materials that the teachers choose.

Teachers noted that graphic novels seemed to be beneficial to struggling readers.

Theme 1: Teachers are open to using graphic novels. After reading all of the responses on using graphic novels in the classroom, I concluded that 37 of the 38 teachers were open to using them in their classrooms to teach reluctant readers. Only one participant, a counselor who defined a graphic novel as "a comic book," stated she did not think she would use them, although she stated she was ambivalent about graphic novel use and believed they might have value.

Survey Questions 7 and 8 asked participants to describe their thoughts and feelings about the use of graphic novels in their classroom. Participant 36 responded, "I think they would be helpful and engaging for some reluctant readers or readers who

benefit from visual support, it may open students up to a new genre they enjoy."

Participant 2 wrote, "I think that graphic novels would benefit those that struggle to read more traditional forms of literature." Participant 1 replied, "I think they can be a different way to interest students to read."

Survey Question 10 stated, "Describe how you accommodate students who are reluctant to read in your classroom." Participant 12 replied, "Reluctant readers benefit from the use of graphic novels. In reading regular novels, I accommodate reluctant readers by guiding their analysis closely in class." Participant 1 noted, "If a student discovers a joy of reading through graphic novels, perhaps they will seek out other materials which might give them enjoyment."

Knowing that teachers are open to using graphic novels to teach reluctant readers is important. Also important is to understand why teachers believe students are reluctant to read. The participants in this study had different views as to why students are reluctant to read, which led to Theme 2 as well as Themes 4 and 5.

Theme 2: Schools dictate reading materials. The school and the teachers have the overall authority on what students read in school. Survey Question 11 asked, "Why do you think students are reluctant to read?" Eight participants indicated students did not find the material interesting, and four specifically noted students' lack of choice in material. Participant 26 responded, "Teachers/adults are making most of the choices of what they [students] will read, how they will be processing the text, how they should interpret the text." Participant 33 answered, "Because they have to read what the school wants them to read and not what they want to read. Although it is important to know about great literature, it deters some students from the joy of reading." Furthermore,

Participant 29 replied, "I think they are reluctant to read because it is seen as work. Some love to read but the majority just read what they have to in order to answer questions."

Correspondingly, 11 participants mentioned trying to reach reluctant readers by allowing them to select materials they are interested in.

Theme 3: Graphic novels aid those who have difficulty with reading. Eleven respondents specifically used the word "difficulty" explaining why students may be reluctant readers. Others mentioned lack of confidence and potential embarrassment as well. One of the responses to Survey Question 11 mentioned students learning English as a second language. Participant 38 stated, "Sometimes they [students] are reluctant to read because English is their second language. Other times if they see too much writing, they will try to complete the assignment without reading it." Difficulty with reading can be the reason a student is reluctant to read.

Participant 36 mentioned both themes of struggling readers and lack of student choice of material:

I believe with most students who are reluctant to read there is an underlying difficulty that may not be known, making it difficult for the student to comprehend what they are reading. Another primary reason I feel students shy away from reading is limited exposure to choice and variety.

Similarly, Participant 25 said, "Could be difficult for them or they just do not like to sit still and read about topics that don't interest them, or they may have not liked previous literature books and now have an aversion to reading." Participant 27 responded succinctly, "Could be skill level or interest."

Some students may feel they are not proficient enough to read. Participant 22

stated, "Some students feel like they are not as fluent as they should be. Participant 19 noted, "Students might have a fear of embarrassment." Some students may have a fear of reading out loud, as noted by Participant 18: "Pressure to read quickly and afraid of reading out loud." Participant 23 noted middle school students are "vulnerable" and thus afraid to show their reading level to their peers.

Participant 8 noted graphic novels might give readers "confidence to read more difficult/traditional novels." Similarly, Participant 7 stated, "Yes. Once students can tackle a graphic novel, they have more confidence when faced with other pieces of literature."

Theme 4: Reluctant readers are distracted by technology. Respondents stated that many reluctant readers found reading boring compared to video games, social media, and other visual technology. Seven participants used the word "distractions." Participants 3 and 14 specifically mentioned the "instant gratification culture," and Participant 37 mentioned the current fast-paced culture. Three respondents mentioned short attention spans. Participant 3 stated, "Reading requires time—they are used to an instant gratification kind of cultural milieu." Participant 1 stated, "I think students rely too much on technology, and books just bore them." Participant 6 mentioned students' "rushed lives" and "more things to disrupt their learning—video games and social media." Participant 7 noted "many other distractions (video games, Netflix, YouTube) that students find more exciting." Participant 12 explained, "Students are reluctant to read because it is a time-consuming activity that requires focused attention for an extended period of time, and technology has sped up their lives to the point where they find reading tedious."

Theme 5: Teachers use varying formats in the classroom to reach reluctant readers. Tied to the emphasis on reluctant readers perceiving reading as "boring" compared to technology, teachers described using varying formats to reach readers. Teachers described using audiobooks and videos, as well as giving shorter assignments. Pedagogical strategies included interactive reading and partner reading. Participant 36 stated, "I try to accommodate reluctant readers by offering different formats such as audiobooks, as well encouraging them to explore different genres." Participant 6 explained, "Today, students want information faster, and with a graphic novel, students may show more excitement towards the material."

Findings for Research Question 2

How do the teachers feel about using graphic novels across the curriculum? Findings revealed that, in general, teachers considered graphic novels to be literature. Teachers in the English and Social Studies Departments in particular stated they would use graphic novels in their classrooms. The participants also stated using graphic novels could help teach basic reading skills.

Theme 1: Teachers consider graphic novels as literature. When asked if graphic novels were literature, 35 of the 38 respondents answered yes. Participant 18, a science teacher, was not sure. Participant 10 stated it depended on the author and subject. Participant 3 noted that the graphic novel version of *Fahrenheit 451* was abridged to the point of compromising its literary value. The other respondents, however, were overwhelmingly positive. Respondents noted the graphic novel contained a story line and the same literary elements as a traditional novel. Participant 12, an English teacher, stated, "Yes, I do consider them literature because I believe that anything that sheds light

on or analyzes the human condition is 'literature.'" Participant 15 stated, "100%, I think it is a fantastic way for students who struggle with creating their own visuals, based on words, to engage with literature."

Theme 2: Teachers in the English Department could use graphic novels, although they were not part of the curriculum. Survey Question 16 asked, "How does your school incorporate graphic novels into the curriculum?" Four participants thought the English curriculum might use graphic novels, specifying the use of a graphic novel of *Fahrenheit 451* for eighth-grade English. Teachers in the English department indicated that teachers could use graphic novels in their classrooms, but such use was not part of the school's curriculum. "There are several English teachers who use graphic novels," Participant 19 said. Participant 17 said, "They are used in some lower level English classes." Participant 16 referenced the use of graphic novels in the curriculum, stating, "The eighth grade curriculum incorporates the reading of several graphic novels. Some compared to the prose version of the same novel, and others are used as a reference and starting point for research assignments." Participant 7, an English teacher, went into detail:

A good graphic novel has depth of plot, character development, theme, etc. In short, it has the classic areas of study found in a prose text. It also has the elements of film we study with students, allowing them to develop literacy in the interpretation of image for meaning. When students combine both aspects to investigate a text's effect on readers, they develop varied insights into how meaning is communicated and interpreted. It makes for a very rich literature study.

Theme 3: English teachers consider graphic novels as useful to teach students basic reading skills. Survey Question 12 asked, "Do you think graphic novels can help teach basic reading skills. Why or why not?" The overall response was positive.

Participant 38 responded, "Yes I think graphic novels can help teach basic reading skills, especially if they are on a topic of interest to the student." Participant 26 stated, "Yes! You can easily find high-interest low-vocabulary graphic novels." Participant 16 explained, "Yes. All the same skills required in reading comprehension are present in graphic novels. For many, however, the visual stimulation enables reluctant readers to more clearly process the visual stimuli they see on the page into their mind."

Conversely, Participant 2 stated,

I do not think graphic novels can help teach basic reading skills because of how the pages are naturally set up. It is difficult at times to determine which "box" comes next—what order to read the pattern or layout of the graphic novel.

This response reflects previous researchers' claims that students may need instruction on how to read graphic novels (Friese, 2013; Maniace, 2014).

Theme 4: Teachers in the Social Studies Department used graphic novels, although they were not part of the curriculum. Social studies teachers indicated their interest in using graphic novels to teach history, even though graphic novels are not part of the official curriculum. Survey Question 9 asked participants how they might use graphic novels for classroom instruction. Participant 25 replied, "Since I teach history, I could use it to teach a particular time period such as the American Revolution and that could be our 'textbook." Participant 29 said, "I could use them in illustrating the story line of the Trojan War or the Greco-Roman gods and myths. There are numerous 'big

concept' ideas in history where this approach would be beneficial." Participant 28 stated graphic novels are "a great way to preview the lessons in history or geography. It gives the children manageable content and pictures to help the visualize the stories." Participant 4 would use graphic novels with appropriate content as an "add on" to a specific topic.

Findings for Research Question 3

What suggestions do the teachers have regarding best practices in using graphic novels along with traditional, text-only novels? Teachers stated they would use graphic novels to supplement or accompany a textbook and to make the subject matter easier to understand, such as reading a graphic novel about a time in history. Other teachers responded that they would have students read a traditional novel and, if a graphic novel were available, read it after. Additionally, some teachers mentioned the importance of using graphic novels with visual learners.

Theme 1: Use a graphic novel as a supplement to accompany the text.

Participants frequently used words such as "enhance," "supplement," or "ancillary" to describe the use of graphic novels in the classroom. Survey Question 8 asked participants' general feelings about using graphic novels in their classroom. Participant 12 responded, "I believe in studying them after the original novel has been read." Survey Question 9 asked how participants might use graphic novels for classroom instruction. Participant 3 responded, "Definitely as ancillary texts, if we are reading a graphic novel based on an actual book, I would make every effort to read that book as well with the students."

Theme 2: Use graphic novels to teach a subject and reading skills. Survey

Question 15 asked participants about research showing graphic novels can enhance a

lesson in an academic subject. Participant 28 replied, "I do think this is true, just look at the book *Economix* [Goodwin, 2012], for it is a great book to understand economic history, and it is a graphic novel." Participant 18, a science teacher, said, "I use them [graphic novels] to show short segments and develop vocabulary, and sometimes they help with critical thinking." Participant 7 stated, "If a graphic novel makes the literature more engaging for students, then I am all for it." Participant 5 said, "I would use them, I have used *Tintin* (a comic book) in the past with beginners in French, and *Persepolis* in advanced classes." *Tintin* is a Belgian series that began in 1929; *Persepolis* is a graphic autobiography by Satrapi (2007) describing her life in Iran.

Theme 3: Use graphic novels to reach visual learners. Ten respondents referred to the use of graphic novels with visual learners. Participant 6 stated, "Many students are visual learners" and noted graphic novels could spark interest and lead to their success with traditional text-only material. Participant 30 stated, "Many learners are visual, and the use of graphics will allow more students to remain engaged in the lesson." Participant 11, a counselor, noted the use of graphics to help teach guidance lessons as well as to "help with memory for a test." Participant 15 also indirectly referenced the use of schemas in memory, stating, "The visuals assist in creating a scene which leads to better comprehension usually and allows students an additional cue to return to when thinking about the subject."

Findings for Research Question 4

How do the current curricula outline the use of graphic novels? The overarching theme was that the school's current curricula did not include the use of graphic novels in any content areas.

Theme 1: Graphic novels are not in the curriculum. Survey Question 16 asked, "How does your school incorporate graphic novels into the curriculum?" Twelve participants did not know. Participant 20 replied, "I have not seen it incorporated at my school." Participant 12 said, "Our school doesn't require us to teach graphic novels, only a variety of literary genres. However, we are allowed to use them, it is up to the teacher's discretion." Participant 11 said, "I am uncertain about the classroom curriculums, but I know we carry them [graphic novels] in the library." Participant 1 stated, "My school does not use them."

Participant 16 referenced the use of graphic novels in the curriculum, stating, "The eighth grade curriculum incorporates the reading of several graphic novels. Some compared to the prose version of the same novel, and others are used as a reference and starting point for research assignments." However, the curriculum described does not mention graphic novels. Teachers do have the discretion to use graphic novels in their classrooms.

Triangulation. After reading through all the questionnaire data, I then looked at all of the responses that mentioned curricula. These data were then compared to the research site's curricula. The school's curricula did not mention the use of graphic novels at all. Participant questionnaire responses, especially to Survey Question 16, evidenced that whereas teachers have the freedom to choose what materials would be used in class, only one participant responded that graphic novels were part of the school's curriculum.

The research site uses a curriculum outline for each subject. The curriculum for English Literature College Prep for eighth grade is written as an outline and states the overreaching objectives for the school year. The English curriculum for eighth grade

includes by quarter what novels will be read as well the types of literary elements to be taught in each novel or novella. The outline was based on what the teachers wanted to teach in their classrooms, and state standards were not a factor. The outline also listed literary terms and comprehension skills. The novels chosen for reading were as follows: *That Was Then, This Is Now; The Giver; Son; Fahrenheit 451; Secret Life of Bees; The Pearl;* and *Lord of the Flies*. None of these is the original text-only novel (abridged versions are used), and the curriculum outline made no reference to a graphic novel or using images to supplement the texts.

In conversation I was told the following: "The Social Studies Department has never used a graphic novel to teach any part of history in our courses" (F. Franklin, personal communication, December 21, 2017). Curricula in other subject areas did not mention use of graphic novels or even of multimedia or multimodal texts.

Although the research site did not include graphic novels in the school curricula, the results were triangulated with the Common Core State Standards. The Common Core State Standards for English language arts do include graphic novels for Grades 5–12 (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010). Specifically, English language arts Standard 10 addresses the range, quality, and complexity of student reading. Literature covered under Standard 10 for students in Grades 6–12 "includes the subgenres of adventure stories, historical fiction, mysteries, myths, science fiction, realistic fiction, allegories, parodies, satire, and graphic novels" (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010, p. 57). Graphic novels are also mentioned for Standard 7, the integration of knowledge and ideas, for students in Grade 5: "Analyze how visual and multimedia elements contribute to the meaning, tone, or beauty of a text (e.g., graphic novel,

multimedia presentation of fiction, folktale, myth, poem)" (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010, p. 12). Interestingly, only two responses echoed the Common Core State Standards. Participant 12 stated, "Our school doesn't require us to teach graphic novels, only a variety of literary genres. However, we are allowed to use them, it is up to the teacher's discretion." Although not specifically referring to the school's curricula, Participant 26 stated, "I think a blend of all types of literature are important. Students need to be exposed to fiction, nonfiction, poetry, prose, etc."

Member Checks

After the researcher had reviewed all of the data and coded the data, using coaxial coding to look for emerging themes, the data were then e-mailed back to all of the staff members who might or might not have participated in the questionnaire. The researcher asked the participants to review the data to see if the results were an accurate depiction. Only a handful of participants responded to this request. The overall outcome of the member checks was that the participants felt that the responses were honest. These participants also validated that they agreed with the findings and were not surprised to learn that teachers would be open to using graphic novels in their classrooms. A summary of the thematic findings is presented in Table 3.

Table 3
Summary of Research Questions and Emerging Themes

Research Question	Themes
1. What are teachers'	Theme 1: Teachers are open to using graphic novels.
perceptions of the	Theme 2: Schools dictate reading materials.
inclusion of graphic novels to help teach reluctant readers?	Theme 3: Graphic novels aid those who have difficulty with reading.
readers?	Theme 4: Reluctant readers are distracted by technology.
	Theme 5: Teachers use varying formats in the classroom to reach reluctant readers.
2. How do the teachers feel	Theme 1: Teachers consider graphic novels as literature.
about using graphic novels across the curriculum?	Theme 2: Teachers in the English department could use graphic novels, although they were not part of the curriculum.
	Theme 3: English teachers consider graphic novels as useful to teach students basic reading skills.
	Theme 4: Teachers in the Social Studies department used graphic novels, although they were not part of the curriculum.
3. What suggestions do the teachers have regarding	Theme 1: Use a graphic novel as a supplement to accompany the text.
best practices in using graphic novels along with	Theme 2: Use graphic novels to teach a subject and reading skills.
traditional, text-only novels?	Theme 3: Use graphic novels to reach visual learners.
4. How do the current	Theme 1: Graphic novels are not in the curriculum.
curricula outline the use of graphic novels?	Confirmed through curriculum documents as triangulation. However, Common Core State Standards do refer to graphic novel use.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Overview

Schwertner (2008) noted that he had two types of readers in his class, the motivated reader and the reluctant reader. This study was created to find out teachers' perceptions of using graphic novels to teach the reluctant reader. Graphic novels are a way to help get reluctant readers to read, but would the teachers be interested in using them? This qualitative study was designed to explore teachers' perceptions of using graphic novels in the classroom to help teach reluctant readers in a private school in Florida. In this case study, 38 teachers responded to an open-ended questionnaire.

Expanding on Findings and Linking to Research

Research Question 1. The findings for Research Question 1 suggested that teachers are open to using graphic novels to teach reluctant readers. Based on the teachers' responses, teachers thought students who were reluctant to read could benefit from the use of reading graphic novels because of the images. Graphic novels could help reluctant readers by offering an alternative to those students who struggle to read traditional novels. As Connors (2015) stated, many educators believe that the graphic novel can be an essential tool to help teach students to learn visual literacy skills. This ties into how teachers feel about graphic novels to teach reluctant readers; visual literacy is important and can help a student become a better and motivated reader. Teachers reported that reluctant readers could benefit from reading graphic novels, supporting previous research. Tomasevich (2013) noted graphic novels could motivate those students who do not want to read and help to increase literacy skills.

The participants identified several reasons why students are reluctant to read.

Schools dictate reading materials, giving students a lack of choice in materials that reflect their interests. Teachers' opinions are supported by literature. Students should choose reading materials that interest them (Fleishhacker, 2017). Further, pictures combined with words can interest a variety of students, including reluctant readers (Fleishhacker, 2017).

Difficulty with reading was another reason teachers gave for students' reluctance to read. Students who have difficulty reading do not enjoy reading. The student also may lack confidence in reading in front of peers. This finding matches the literature; Sloboda et al. noted reluctant readers were often struggling readers. The reluctant reader may be an English language learner. Howard (2012) found that English language learners preferred to read graphic novels over purely textual material.

Students today live in a fast-paced culture and do not take the time to read books, according to the participants. Teachers noted the distraction of social media, video games, YouTube, and all types of visual technologies as deterring readers. Teachers noted this tendency also in their best practices to reach reluctant readers, which included using video or audiobooks in the classroom. Bakis (2012a) suggested she can teach more graphic novels in the same amount of time as she would spend teaching lengthier texts.

Research Question 2. Results for Research Question 2 indicated teachers' perceptions of using graphic novels across the curriculum. The data determined that the teachers considered graphic novels to be literature. This finding should be encouraging to teachers or administrators considering adding graphic novels to the curriculum. The attitudes of the teachers also contradict Clark's (2013) findings that preservice teachers were concerned about losing credibility if they used graphic novels in the classroom.

Additionally, nearly all the teachers would use graphic novels across the

curriculum. Participants from the English and Social Studies Departments were particularly apt to use graphic novels in their classrooms, although graphic novels were not part of the official curriculum. As Brozo et al. (2014) stated, the initial use of graphic novels in classrooms was by English teachers as a tool for struggling or reluctant readers. Cromer and Clark (2007) noted that many graphic novels are based on historical events, and pairing these graphic novels with the traditional text opens up a whole new way for students to learn about the past. Even science teachers in the current study described using graphic texts to build vocabulary. Researchers have reported on successful use of this format to teach complicated science topics (Brozo et al., 2014; Fleishhacker, 2017).

Using graphic novels to teach basic reading skills was also evident from the responses. Teachers noted that all of the same skills required in reading comprehension are present in graphic novels. According to Wetta (2013), graphic novels can be used to bridge the gaps between levels, helping struggling readers develop necessary reading skills. Sloboda et al. (2014) reported reading comprehension increased with the use of graphic novels; further, the use of sequential art helped increase vocabulary skills. Teacher responses in this study support the previous research; teachers indicated student vocabulary could be increased by using graphic novels.

In regards to basic reading skills, Yildirim (2013) noted that graphic novels could be used in the classroom with an array of purposes. They can increase reading comprehension by combining images with text. Participants indicated that visual stimulation enables a reluctant reader to process and comprehend more clearly what is happening in a story.

Research Question 3. Research Question 3 explored what suggestions teachers

had regarding best practices in using graphic novels along with traditional text-only novels. Teachers reported of the use of graphic novels as a supplement to traditional text-only novels was a good idea, especially when the graphic novel version was taught after the students read the text-only, original version. Furthermore, the participants stated graphic novels can be used to teach other subject matter in addition to using the original textbook. Overall, if a graphic novel could help increase interest in the subject matter or encourage students to read, teachers were willing to use them in their classrooms.

Hughes (2016) also mentioned using graphic novels to teach in a subject, such as *The Manga Guide to Calculus* by Kojima and *The Manga Guide to Linear Algebra* by Takashi. Teachers using these graphic novels can make difficult material easier to learn.

Additionally, teachers referred to using graphic novels to reach visual learners. Related to the theoretical framework of this study, Gavigan (2014) stated teachers need to build bridges using the content that is taught and existing schemas, or learners' previous experiences. Graphic novels can help access student schemas and knowledge structures to increase their engagement in the content and the act of reading (Brozo et al., 2014; Versaci, 2008). Participant 15 stated, "The visuals assist in creating a scene which leads to better comprehension usually and allows students an additional cue to return to when thinking about the subject." Participant 11 noted the connection between visuals and long-term memory. Participant 26 stated, "Because the brain processes images 60,000 times faster than text, graphic novels are a powerful way to impart information that will be remembered and applied."

Research Question 4. A school's curriculum is the map teachers use to teach students what they need to learn. Research Question 4 explored how the research site

utilized graphic novels in the curricula. Many of the participants did not know whether their current curriculum contained any mention of graphic novels. Others noted the teachers could choose to incorporate graphic novels into their classrooms. Schwarz (2010) stated graphic novels can drive current traditional curriculum goals and can offer teachers new ways of learning for their students. McTaggart (2008) and Fleishhacker (2017) noted that many graphic novels are available to supplement history, literature, science, and math.

I compared the findings to the Common Core State Standards. The Common Core State Standards emphasize the importance of using varieties of informational text; many schools are turning to graphic novels in their curriculum to help students reach gradelevel Common Core State Standards (Bakis, 2012b). Graphic novels are among the types of literature covered under Standard 10 for students in Grades 6–12 and Standard 7 for students in Grade 5 (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2010).

Limitations

Authenticity, the soundness of the data sources (Yin, 2016), was a concern because there was no way to know if the person whom the questionnaire was intended for actually completed the questionnaire. Following up with teachers for member checks after the questionnaire was completed was another limitation, as an anonymous questionnaire was used and the names of the participants were not on it. However, the teachers' exact words were used to provide validity. Furthermore, because the questionnaire was to be completed online, potential respondents might have had issues with the Internet or computer functionality.

Threats to external validity include anything that happens during the study that

might affect the generalizability of the results (Terrel, 2016). Threats to external validity in a survey approach include the sample of people who received the survey (Yin, 2016). Perhaps some teachers completed the questionnaire in the same room at the same time and talked about what they were writing, which might have affected the results of the study. For the study to be valid, it must have transferability and demonstrate the findings from the study are applicable in other contexts (Terrel, 2016). However, qualitative case studies are not intended to be completely transferable but rather to explore a topic in depth at a site (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011).

Several factors limited internal validity. The entire middle school faculty did not complete the questionnaire; of the 90 faculty members, 38 completed the questionnaire. However, Creswell and Plano Clark (2011) noted, "Rather than select a large number of people or sites, the qualitative researcher identifies and recruits a small number that will provide in-depth information about the central phenomenon or concept being explored in the study" (p. 174). Creswell and Plano Clark noted samples under 10 may be appropriate for a case study. With a sample of 38, data saturation was achieved.

Implications

One main finding from this study is the teachers' positive response to using graphic novels in the classroom. As Brozo and Mayville (2012) argued, graphic novels are a real-world teaching resource, and when put into the hands of a skilled teacher, graphic novels can heighten student engagement. The teachers also considered graphic novels to be literature. Clark (2013) reported, however, that preservice teachers were concerned about losing credibility if they used graphic novels in the classroom.

Therefore, one practical implication from this study is that education should be provided

to teachers and administrators on the appropriate use of graphic novels. They then might consider adding graphic novels to the curriculum without feeling that potential loss of credibility.

Another finding of the study was that the research site's curricula across subjects and departments had no mention of graphic novels. Several teachers stated wishing graphic novels were added to the curriculum; these teachers spanned departments, including social studies, English, counseling, and science. Based on the teachers' positive perceptions about using graphic novels, a practical implication is that perhaps the school could incorporate graphic novels into the curriculum. Teachers repeatedly mentioned using graphic novels to help students learn vocabulary, regardless of content area. More specifically, teachers could use graphic novels as supplements to literature texts in literature courses. History teachers could use graphic novels as supplements to the text, appealing to visual learners and appealing to students' imagination and personal experience. Teachers could be encouraged to use graphic novels with students learning English as a second language.

Current standards refer to visual literacy. For those teachers not ready to use graphic novels, image-based materials as supplements can be used to reach visual learners and teach vocabulary. Using visuals with instruction increases the likelihood of information being retained long term (Brozo et al., 2014; Carter, 2007; Moeller, 2011).

Moreover, teachers seemed unsure about whether graphic novels were part of the school's curricula or their specific departmental curriculum. These responses suggest teachers may need a refresher training on existing curricula by department or subject area. Refresher training on the standards and existing curricula should be part of ongoing

professional development.

Recommendations for Further Research

Further research to discover teachers' perceptions of using graphic novels to teach reluctant readers could be focused on students labeled as reluctant or unmotivated to read traditional novels. Teachers could ask the librarian to help choose grade-level-appropriate graphic novels across a variety of genres. Perhaps one traditional novel written in graphic novel form could be used, such as a graphic novel based on *A Wrinkle in Time* by L'Engle (1962). One could be a story from history, such as *Maus* by Spiegelman (1991). Another could be a Marvel or DC Comics graphic novel like *Batman: Year One* by Miller and Mazzucchelli (1988) or *Marvels* by Busiek and Ross (2010). The last one could be an award-winning graphic novel such as *American Born Chinese* by Yang (2008). The researcher could read these graphic novels with students, engage in group discussions, give short quizzes, and have the students take surveys to determine students' attitudes toward reading the graphic novels. Findings could be presented to the teachers at the research site.

Additional research could used mixed methods to determine whether use of graphic novels increases students' vocabulary, reading comprehension, or attitudes toward reading. This study was a case study at a single site and thus could be used as a foundation for expanded research.

Summary and Final Conclusion

In conclusion, teachers' perceptions of using graphic novels to teach reluctant readers at the research site were positive. They considered graphic novels to be literature and a useful supplement to textbooks and text-only novels. Graphic novels can be used in

almost every subject in school; at the research site, English and social studies teachers were particularly open to using them. However, teachers of languages, science, teachers, and counselors also indicated the use of graphic novels.

Teachers also provided reasons students were reluctant to read at the research site.

Teachers noted that reluctant readers could be struggling readers (including English language learners) whose lack of proficiency could make reading a traditional novel difficult. The use of images from graphic novels can help these students read, instead of not wanting to participate. Teachers also noted a fast-paced society heavy with technological distractions led to students' reluctance to read. They reported using multimedia to try to reach such reluctant readers, including graphic novels.

Given the positive attitudes of teachers at the school to using graphic novels, graphic novels could be added to the school's curriculum without much resistance. In addition, teachers can use the traditional novels they teach and acquire the accompanying graphic novel if available. One history teacher noted lack of resources for acquiring high-quality graphic novels, which might be an issue to address. The data from this study indicated that the teachers at the research site are open to using graphic novels to reach reluctant readers. Reluctant readers include students distracted by technology, with short attention spans, with limited reading proficiency, learning English as a second language, and with visual learning styles. If teachers use graphic novels in the classroom, they may interest students to read more and result in fewer reluctant and unmotivated readers in the school.

References

- Alverson, B. (2014). Teaching with graphic novels. *School Library Journal*, 60(9).

 Retrieved from http://www.slj.com/2014/09/books-media/the-graphic-advantage
 -teaching-with-graphic-novels/
- Alverson, B. (2015, July 14). Papercutz launches Charmz imprint for teen girls.

 Publishers Weekly. Retrieved from https://www.publishersweekly.com/pw/by

 -topic/childrens/childrens-book-news/article/70907-papercutz-launches-charmz

 -imprint-for-teen-girls.html
- Association of College and Research Libraries. (2011). *ACLR visual literacy competency standards for higher education*. Retrieved from http://www.ala.org/acrl/standards/visualliteracy
- Baetens, J., & Frey, H. (2015). *The graphic novel: An introduction*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Bakis, M. (2012a). *The graphic novel classroom: Powerful teaching and learning with images*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Bakis, M. (2012b). *Graphic novels and state standards*. Retrieved from http://www.readingwithpictures.org/2012/03/graphic-novels-and-state-standards/
- Barberos, M. T., Gozalo, A., & Padayogdog, E. (n.d.). *The effect of the teacher's teaching style on students' motivation: Action research.* Retrieved June 3, 2018, from https://steinhardt.nyu.edu/teachlearn/research/action/motivation
- Basal, A., Aytan, T., & Demir, I. (2016). Teaching vocabulary with graphic novels.

 English Language Teaching, 9(9), 95-109. doi:10.5539/elt.v9n9p95
- Bennett, K. (2016). Reluctant readers: An analysis of educational and LIS literature from

- 1993–2013. School of Library and Information Science Connecting, 5(1), Article 11. doi:10.18785/slis.0501.11
- Berger, J. (2006). Ways of seeing. In D. McQuade & C. McQuade (Eds.), *Seeing and writing* (3rd ed., pp. 681-693). Boston, MA: Bedford/St. Martin's.
- Brenna, B. (2013). How graphic novels support reading comprehension strategy development in children. *Literacy*, *47*, 88-94. doi:10.1111/j.1741-4369.2011 .00655.x
- Brozo, W. G., & Mayville, M. (2012). Reforming secondary disciplinary instruction with graphic novels. *New England Reading Association Journal*, 48(1), 11-21.
- Brozo, W. G., Moorman, G., & Meyer, C. K. (2014). Wham! Teaching with graphic novels across the curriculum. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Burmack, L. (2008). Visual literacy: What you get is what you see. In N. Frey & D. Fisher (Eds.), *Teaching visual literacy: Using comic books, graphic novels, anime, cartoons, and more to develop comprehension and thinking skills* (pp. 5-25). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Busiek, K., & Ross, A. (2010). Marvels. New York, NY: Marvel.
- Butzer, C. M. (2008). Gettysburg: The graphic novel. New York, NY: Harper Collins.
- Carter, J. B. (2007). Building literacy connections with graphic novels: Page by page, panel by panel. Urbana, IL: National Council of Teachers of English.
- Clark, J. S. (2013). "Your credibility could be shot": Preservice teachers' thinking about nonfiction graphic novels, curriculum decision making, and professional acceptance. *Social Studies*, *104*, 38-45. doi:10.1080/00377996.2012.665957
- Cohn, N., & Campbell, H. (2015). Navigating comics II: Constraints on the reading order

- of comic page layouts. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 29, 193-199. doi:10.1002/acp.3086
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (2010). Common Core State Standards for

 English language arts and literacy in history/social studies, science, and technical subjects. Retrieved from http://www.corestandards.org/wp-content/uploads/ELA

 Standards1.pdf
- Concordia University. (2012). *Are graphic novels appropriate for the classroom?*Retrieved from http://education.cu-portland.edu/blog/classroom-resources/can-graphic-novels-be-appropriate-for-classroom-use/
- Connors, S. P. (2010). "The best of both worlds": Rethinking the literary merit of graphic novels. *The Alan Review*, *37*(3). doi:10.21061/alan.v37i3.a.9
- Connors, S. P. (2015). Expanding students' analytical frameworks through the study of graphic novels. *Journal of Children's Literature*, 41(2), 5-15.
- Crawford, P. (2004). A novel approach: Using graphic novels to attract reluctant readers.

 **Library Media Connection, 22(5), 26-28. Retrieved from http://www.purplealert

 .ecu.edu/cs-lib/trc/upload/LMC Feb04 Crawford.pdf
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cromer, M., & Clark, P. (2007). Getting graphic with the past: Graphic novels and the teaching of history. *Theory and Research in Social Education*, *35*, 574-591. doi:10.1080/00933104.2007.10473351
- Crowley, J. (2015, September). Graphic novels in the school library: Using graphic novels to encourage reluctant readers and improve literacy. *The School Librarian*,

- *63*, 140-142.
- Dallacqua, A. K. (2012). Exploring literary devices in graphic novels. *Language Arts*, 89, 365-378. Retrieved from http://www.ncte.org/library/NCTEFiles/Resources/Journals/LA/0896-jul2012/LA0896Exploring.pdf
- Daniels, E., & Steres, M. (2011). Examining the effects of a school-wide reading culture on the engagement of middle school students. *RMLE Online*, *35*(2), 1-13.

 Retrieved from ERIC database. (EJ951779)
- Danielson, K. A. (2016). *Literacy content and core practices: Teacher educator*pedagogy as the bridge between knowing and doing (Doctoral dissertation).

 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (1804046607)
- Downey, E. M. (2009). Graphic novels in curriculum and instruction collections.

 *Reference and User Services Quarterly, 49, 181-188. doi:10.5860/rusq.49n2.181
- Edmonds, W. A., & Kennedy, T. D. (2013). An applied reference guide to research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Fagan, B. D., & Fagan, J. C. (2011). *Comic book collections for libraries*. Santa Barbara, CA: Libraries Unlimited. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/read/124070257/comic-book-collections-for-libraries
- Fetter-Vorm, J. (2012). *Trinity: A graphic history of the first atomic bomb*. New York, NY: Hill and Wang.
- Fleishhacker, J. (2017). Collection development: Stocking library shelves for student success. Motivating readers through science-focused fun. *Knowledge Quest*, 45(4), 24-31.
- Friese, E. E. G. (2013). Visual narratives. *Knowledge Quest*, 41(3), 24-29.

- Froschauer, L. (2012). Editor's note: The importance of visual literacy. *Science and Children*, *50*(3), 6.
- Gavigan, K. (2012). Caring through comics—Graphic novels and bibliotherapy for Grades 6–12. *Knowledge Quest*, *40*(5), 78-80.
- Gavigan, K. (2014). Shedding new light on graphic novel collections: A circulation and collection analysis study in six middle school libraries. *School Libraries Worldwide*, 20(1), 97-115.
- Goodwin, M. (2012). Economix: How our economy works (and doesn't work) in words and pictures. New York, NY: Abrams.
- Green, A. K. (2010). Comparing the efficacy of SRA reading mastery and guided reading on reading achievement in struggling readers (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (3423972)
- Guthrie, J., Klauda, S., & Ho, A. (2013). Modeling the relationships among reading instruction, motivation, engagement, and achievement for adolescents. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 48, 9-26. doi:10.1002/rrq.035
- Hansen, K. S. (2012). In defense of graphic novels. *English Journal*, *102*(2), 57-63.

 Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23365398
- Hammond, H. K. (2009). *Graphic novels and multimodal literacy: A reader response*survey (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://conservancy.umn.edu
 /handle/11299/48560
- Heard, J. (2015). Engaging teens in recreational reading through book clubs. *Knowledge Quest*, 43(5), 64-68.
- Howard, R. M. (2012). ELLs' perception of reading. Reading Improvement, 49, 113-126.

- Hughes, M. (2016). *STEM graphic novels and comic books: Math.* Retrieved from http://libguides.ius.edu/c.php?g=363053&p=2452326
- Huseyin, O. (2015). Graphic novels: An alternative approach to teach English as a foreign language. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, *11*(1), 75-90. Retrieved from ERIC database. (EJ1105203)
- IFC News. (2007, October 11). *Marjane Satrapi: Graphic novels and her family influence* [Video]. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v =7i9Vs97x7IU
- Jennings, K. A., Rule, A. C., & Vander Zanden, S. M. (2014). Fifth graders' enjoyment, interest, and comprehension of graphic novels compared to heavily-illustrated and traditional novels. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 6, 257-274. Retrieved from ERIC database. (EJ1053749)
- Jiménez, L. M., Roberts, K. L, Brugar, K. A., Meyer, C. K., & Waito, K. (2017). Moving our can(n)ons: Toward an appreciation of multimodal texts in the classroom. *The Reading Teacher*, 71, 363-368. doi:10.1002/trtr.1630
- Job, J., & Coleman, M. R. (2016). The importance of reading in earnest. *Gifted Child Today*, *39*, 154-163. doi:10.1177/1076217516644635
- Johnson, M., & Pleece, W. (2009). *Incognegro: A graphic mystery*. New York, NY: Vertigo.
- Joseph, M. (2012). Seeing the visible book: How graphic novels resist reading.

 Children's Literature Association Quarterly, 37, 454-467. doi:10.1353/chq
 .2012.0057
- Kern, D. (2016). Teaching "real books" versus graphic novels in the classroom. New

- England Reading Association Journal, 51(2), 121-122.
- Kluth, P. (2008). "It was always the pictures . . . ": Creating visual literacy supports for students with disabilities. In N. Frey & D. Fisher (Eds.), *Teaching visual literacy: Using comic books, graphic novels, anime, cartoons, and more to develop comprehension and thinking skills* (pp. 169-188). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 12*, 397-414. doi:10.1080 /14780887.2015.1021941
- Lapp, D., Wolsey, T. D., Fisher, D., & Frey, N. (2011). Graphic novels: What elementary teachers think about their instructional value. *Journal of Education*, *192*(1), 23-35. Retrieved from https://www.bu.edu/journalofeducation/files/2012/09/BUJOE_192_1_Lapp.pdf
- Legro, M. (2012). From Marie Curie to Hiroshima, or what uranium isotopes have to do with moral philosophy. Retrieved from https://www.brainpickings.org/2012 /07/23/trinity-a-graphic-history-of-the-atomic-bomb/
- L'Engle, M. (1962). A wrinkle in time. New York, NY: Farrar, Strauss & Giroux.
- Lettenmaier, K. *Engaging literacy: A case study in the use of e-reader devices* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (1773215500)
- Little, C. A., McCoach, D. B., & Reis, S. M. (2014). Effects of differentiated reading instruction on student achievement in middle school. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *25*, 384-402. doi:10.1177/1932202X14549250

- Lubin, G. (2014, August 26). The comic book industry is on fire, and it's about more than just the movies. *Business Insider*. Retrieved from http://www.businessinsider.com/the-comic-book-industry-is-on-fire-2014-8
- Ludden, J. (2014, May 12). Why aren't teens reading like they used to? Retrieved from National Public Radio: http://www.npr.org/2014/05/12/311111701/why-arent -teens-reading-like-they-used-to
- Lunarbaboon. (2017). *Graphic*. Retrieved from http://www.lunarbaboon.com/comics/graphic.html
- Maderazo, C., Martens, P., Croce, K., Martens, R., Doyle, M., Aghalarov, S., & Noble,
 R. (2010). Beyond picture walks: Revaluing picturebooks as written and pictorial texts. *Language Arts*, 87, 437-446. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41804215
- Maniace, E. (2014). Reading process comparison between graphic novels and traditional novels (Master's thesis). Available from http://digitalcommons.brockport.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1539&context=ehd_theses
- McCloud, S. (1993). *Understanding comics: The invisible art*. New York, NY: Harper Collins.
- McGeown, S. P., Duncan, L. G., Griffiths, Y. M., & Stothard, S. E. (2015). Exploring the relationship between adolescents' reading skills, reading motivation and reading habits. *Reading and Writing*, 28, 545-569. doi:10.1007/s11145-014-9537-9
- McTaggart, J. (2008). Graphic novels: The good, the bad, and the ugly. In N. Frey & D. Fisher (Eds.), *Teaching visual literacy: Using comic books, graphic novels,* anime, cartoons, and more to develop comprehension and thinking skills (pp. 27-

- 46). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Meuer, S. J. (2016). How graphic novels affect reading comprehension and memory recall of story elements for language learners (Master's thesis). Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_all/4182/
- Miller, F., & Mazzucchelli, D. (1988). Batman: Year One. Burbank, CA: DC Comics.
- Moeller, R. A. (2011). "Aren't these boy books?": High school students' readings of gender in graphic novels. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *54*, 476-484. doi:10.1598/JAAL.54.7.1
- Moeller, R. A. (2013). Convincing the naysayers. *Knowledge Quest*, 41(3), 12-17.
- Monnin, K. (2013). *Teaching reading comprehension with graphic texts: An illustrated adventure*. Eau Claire, WI: Maupin House.
- Moss, B., Lapp, D., Grant, M., & Johnson, K. (2015). *A close look at close reading: Teaching students to analyze complex texts, Grades 6–12*. Alexandria, VA:

 Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Mucherah, W., & Ambrose-Stahl, D. (2014). Relation of reading motivation to reading achievement in seventh-grade students from Kenya and the United States.

 International Perspectives in Psychology: Research, Practice, Consultation, 3, 154-166.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2014). *Search for private schools* [Database].

 Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/pss/privateschoolsearch/
- National Council of Teachers of English. (2005, September). Using comics and graphic novels in the classroom. *The Council Chronicle*. Retrieved from http://www.ncte.org/magazine/archives/122031

- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2003). *Principles and standards for school mathematics*. Reston, VA: Author.
- National Literacy Trust. (2016). Oxfordshire schools make literacy a top priority.

 Retrieved from http://www.literacytrust.org.uk/media/7375_local_schools_make
 _literacy_a_top_priority
- Newfield, D. (2011). From visual literacy to critical visual literacy: An analysis of educational materials. *English Teaching*, *10*(1), 81-94.
- Paige, D. D., & Magpuri-Lavell, T. (2014). Reading fluency in the middle and secondary grades. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 7(1), 83-96.

 Retrieved from ERIC database. (EJ1053599)
- Pattee, A. (2014). Rethinking library collections for young adults. *Young Adult Library Services*, *12*(3), 15-17. Retrieved from http://yalsdigital.ala.org/i/298959-vol-12-no-3-spring-2014/16
- Plano Clark, V. L., & Creswell, J. W. (2008). *The mixed methods reader*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rednour, D. (2017). Comics cross over: Genre spotlight: Graphic novels. *Library Journal*, *142*(11), 40-48. Retrieved from https://reviews.libraryjournal.com/2017

 /06/books/graphic-novels/comics-cross-over-genre-spotlight-graphic-novels/
- Richardson, M. V., & Miller, M. B. (2001). Motivating students to read: Using authors and literature from their home state. *Reading Improvement*, *38*, 119-124.
- Sabeti, S. (2013). "A different kind of reading": The emergent literacy practices of a school-based graphic novel club. *British Educational Research Journal*, *39*, 835-852. doi:10.1002/berj.3009

- Satrapi, M. (2007). The complete Persepolis. New York, NY: Pantheon.
- Schneider, S. (2016). Representation of the Holocaust: Alternative views. *Social Studies Research & Practice*, 11(2), 71-79. Retrieved from http://www.socstrpr.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/MS6634-Schneiders.pdf
- Schwarz, G. (2010). Graphic novels: New sites of possibility in the secondary curriculum. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue*, *12*, 53-65.
- Schwertner, A. (2008). *Motivating reluctant readers through graphic novels: An action research project* (Master's thesis). Retrieved from https://ttu-ir.tdl.org/ttu-ir/handle/2346/20996
- Sloboda, M. A., Brenna, B. A., & Kosowan-Kirk, C. (2014). Comprehension strategies in practice through a graphic novel study. *Journal of Reading Education*, *39*(2), 17-22.
- Smetana, L., & Grisham, D. L. (2011). Revitalizing Tier 2 intervention with graphic novels. *Reading Horizons*, *51*, 181-208. Retrieved from http://scholarworks .wmich.edu/reading_horizons/vol51/iss3/3/
- Spiegelman, A. (1991). Maus: A survivor's tale. New York, NY: Pantheon Books.
- Spiegelman, A. (2013). Mixing words and pictures: Art Spiegelman discusses the art of comics: Interview by Rebecca Gross. *NEA Arts Magazine, 2013*(2). Retrieved from https://www.arts.gov/NEARTS/2013v2-ahead-their-time/mixing-words-and-pictures
- Stake, R. E. (1995). *The art of case study research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Stanny, C. L. (n.d.). Why students don't read: Strategies to increase student preparation for class. Retrieved from https://www.bellarmine.edu/docs/default-source/faculty

- -development-docs/08-why-students-dont-read.pdf
- Stephens, W. S. (2014). The influence of engagement with graphic narrative text formats on student attitudes towards the school library (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (1725125405)
- SurveyMonkey. (2018). Home page. Retrieved from https://www.surveymonkey.com
- Tabachnick, S. (2009). *Teaching the graphic novel*. New York, NY: Modern Language Association of America.
- Tabachnick, S. E. (2015). Introduction to the special issue on the graphic novel. *Studies* in the Novel, 47, 285.
- Terrel, S. R. (2016). Writing a proposal for your dissertation: Guidelines and examples.

 New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Tomasevich, M. (2013). Super learners. Knowledge Quest, 41(3), 18-23.
- Tonegato, N. (2012). Are graphic novels just for boys? A study on the interests of 5th grade students in reading graphic novels (Master's thesis). Retrieved from https://etd.ohiolink.edu/rws_etd/document/get/bgsu1335289180/inline
- Ülger, K., & Morsünbül, Ü. (2016). The differences in creative thinking: The comparison of male and female students. *Online Journal of Counseling and Education*, *5*(4), 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.tojce.com/frontend//articles/pdf/v5i4/1-12-ulger -morsunbulpdf.pdf
- Voss, C. (2011). *Graphic novels in the classroom* [Survey instrument]. Carbondale:

 Southern Illinois University. Retrieved from https://www.surveymonkey.com/r

 /?sm=+3GodBuCFzMe0hWezKvxOg==
- Versaci, R. (2008). "Literary literacy" and the role of the comic book. In N. Frey & D.

- Fisher (Eds.), *Teaching visual literacy: Using comic books, graphic novels,* anime, cartoons, and more to develop comprehension and thinking skills (pp. 91-111). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Wetta, M. (2013). *Literacy and graphic novels: Why there's nothing wrong with teens*reading comics. Retrieved from https://wrappedupinbooks.org/2013/08/05

 /literacy-and-graphic-novels-why-theres-nothing-wrong-with-teens-reading

 -comics/
- What are graphic novels? (2007). Retrieved from http://www.getgraphic.org /whatisagraphicnovel.php
- Wicks, M. (2015). *Human body theater: A nonfiction revue*. New York, NY: First Second.
- Williams, V. K., & Peterson, D. V. (2009). Graphic novels in libraries supporting teacher education and librarianship programs. *Library Resources & Technical Services*, 53(3). Retrieved from https://journals.ala.org/index.php/lrts/article/view/5283/6432
- Woodford, H. (2016). Engaging young adolescents with reading. *Literacy Learning: The Middle Years*, 24(2), 43-54.
- Yang, G. L. (2008). American born Chinese. New York, NY: First Second.
- Yildirim, A. H. (2013). Using graphic novels in the classroom. *Dil ve Edebiyat Egitimi*Dergisi/Journal of Language and Literature Education, 8, 118-131. Retrieved from http://oaji.net/articles/2014/1069-1406114482.pdf
- Yin, R. K. (2002). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2016). Qualitative research from start to finish (2nd ed.). New York, NY:

The Guilford Press.

Appendix

Graphic Novels—Teacher Questionnaire

Graphic Novels—Teacher Questionnaire

1. Do you give your consent for your answers to be used from this questionnaire?
2. What content area(s) do you teach?
3. How old are you?
4. Are you Male or Female?
5. Please define clearly in your own words what a "graphic novel" is.
6. Do you consider graphic novels literature? Why, or why not?
7. What are your thoughts about the use of graphic novels in your classroom?
8. What are your general feelings about using graphic novels in your classroom?
9. If you said you might use them, comment on how you might use graphic novels for classroom instruction.
10. Describe how you accommodate students who are reluctant to read in your classroom.

- 11. Why do you think students are reluctant to read?
- 12. Do you think graphic novels can help teach basic reading skills, and why or why not?
- 13. Do you encourage students to read graphic novels during independent reading time, and why or why not?
- 14. Do you think that graphic novels could lead to students reading traditional novels, and why or why not?
- 15. Some researchers have shown that graphic novels can enhance a lesson in an academic subject. Do you think this is true, and why or why not?
 - 16. How does your school incorporate graphic novels into the curriculum?